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The annual report covers Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited and its controlled entities (the Consolidated entity).
Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated in and domiciled in Australia. Its
registered office and principal place of business is:
118 Mount Street
North Sydney
NSW 2060
A description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors’ Report on pages 1 – 6.
The annual report was authorised for issue by the directors on 23 March 2022. The directors have the power to amend and reissue
the report.

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Directors' report
The directors present their report on the Consolidated entity consisting of Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited (“the
Company”) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 31 December 2021.
Directors
The following persons were directors of the Company who held office during financial year 2021 and up to the date of this report:
Name
Current Directors
Paul John Bedbrook
John Francis Mulcahy
Justin Sean Delaney
Nicolette Liesbeth Rubinsztein
Matthew Reilly
Geoffrey Edward Summerhayes
Former Directors
John Inniss Howell
Timothy Paul Plant

Role

Appointment date

Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

01 April 2013
23 November 2017
01 December 2019
01 January 2020
19 July 2021
18 January 2022
Date ceased to hold office
12 April 2021
19 July 2021

Director
Director

The following persons were officers of the Company who held office during financial year 2021:
Name
Cathy Anne Manolios
David George Hallahan
Edmund Ralph Yang

Role
Secretary
Secretary
Public Officer

Appointment date
16 September 2016
11 April 2008
1 June 2019

Date ceased to hold office

Principal activities
During the year the principal activities of the Consolidated entity consisted of:
 Underwriting various classes of General Insurance;
 Underwriting various classes of individual and group Life Insurance;
 Funds management services; and
 Investment in an investment property.
There was no significant change in the nature of the Company’s principal activities during the year.
Dividends
There were nil dividends (2020: nil) paid by the Company to the Immediate Controlling Company, Zurich Insurance Company
(incorporated in Switzerland), during the financial year.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Directors' report (continued)
Review of results and operations
A summary of consolidated revenues and results is set out below:
2021
$'000

Consolidated revenues and other income
Life Insurance premiums and fees
General Insurance premiums
Reinsurance commissions
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Investment income
Other revenue
Consolidated results
Profit attributable to the members of the Consolidated entity

2,334,078
1,206,131
195,893
752,222
332,334
26,771
4,847,429

2020
$'000
*Restated
2,245,786
1,255,681
213,233
1,456,106
249,146
27,257
5,447,209

162,066

82,538

*See Note 36 for further details of restatements
Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity during the financial year.
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
1) On 21 February 2022, the Full Court of the Federal Court of Australia passed judgement on the appeals in the COVID-19
second business interruption test case. The judgment substantially upheld the earlier Federal Court decision delivered in October
2021. The judgement of the Court concluded that for nine of the ten proceedings in the second test case, business interruption
claims are not covered. Given this judgement, the Consolidated entity has reassessed its outstanding claims liability and
associated reinsurance and other recoveries. This reassessment is reflected within the results of the Consolidated entity for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
2) From 21 February 2022, heavy rain and flash flooding has impacted the Queensland and NSW coastline, including Southeast
Queensland, northern regions of NSW, and most recently the greater Sydney region. At the time of preparing the Annual Report,
this East Coast Flood catastrophe event has subsided, however the claims impact of this event is still developing. A current
early estimate of the Consolidated entity’s gross claims is approximately $105m. After reinsurance, net claims cost to the
Consolidated entity from this series of weather events is expected to range between $10m to $20m.
3) On 22 February 2022, the Company entered into an Asset Sale Agreement with ANZ Bank Group Limited (ANZ) to acquire
the servicing arrangements of ANZ’s insurance advice customers, with an expected completion date in July 2022. This provides
the Company with an opportunity to establish an internal advice capability to offer advice to the non-advised customers in our
existing Zurich Australia Life and OnePath portfolios.
No other matters or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2021 that has significantly affected the Company’s operations,
results or state of affairs, or may do so in future years.
Likely developments and expected results of operations
The directors do not make any reference to likely developments and expected results at this time, apart from comments made
elsewhere in this report, as such references could be prejudicial to the interests of policyholders and shareholders. Accordingly,
this information has not been included in this report.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Directors' report (continued)
Environmental regulations
Whilst the Company has assessed that there are no significant environmental regulations that apply to it, the Company is part of
the Zurich Group which has the ambition to become one of the world’s most environmentally responsible and impactful
businesses in the world.
Zurich Group has intensified its focus on the UN Global Business Ambition Pledge to limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C.
Zurich Group has been embedding sustainability into every fibre of the Company and has been operating as a carbon-neutral
business since 2014. In 2020, Zurich Group has become one of the first large institutional investors to prioritize the goals – rather
than the monetary amount. The Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) named Zurich Group as No. 1 in the insurance industry
for improving scores across all three components of the ranking: governance and economic, environmental, and social. This is a
sign that Zurich Group’s long-term efforts are paying off.
Zurich Australia & New Zealand established a local sustainability working group in 2021 in order to develop its own local strategy,
while taking advantage of the strong support and lead from the Zurich Group. The first phase of the strategy has been to embed our
foundations, which included activities such as establishing sustainability pages on both our intranet and external website, exceeding
the targeted reduction of our operational emissions and benchmarking the carbon impact of our investments, as well as reviewing
our current suite of sustainable products.
As part of our local sustainability strategy we are aiming to engage and educate our customers and employees about sustainability
and empower them to join us in our action against climate change. As part of this, we will be piloting a local reforestation project
within our business that will lead to the regeneration of ecosystems and their native tree species in Australia.
Information on directors
The following information is current as at the date of this report.
Director

Qualifications

Experience

Special Responsibilities

Paul John
BEDBROOK

BSc, F Fin,
FAICD

Over 40 years’ experience in Financial Services. Former
Regional Chief Executive Officer, ING Asia Pacific and
prior to this held other senior positions including CEO,
ING Australia and President and Chief Executive Officer
of ING Bank of Canada.

Non-executive director;
Chairman of the Board

Justin Sean
DELANEY

B.A.,
GradDipAppFin,
GradDipFinPlan,
GradDipMgt

Chief Executive Officer with over 25 years' experience
in financial services. Former Chief Operating Officer,
TAL Life. Prior to this held various senior management
roles at Macquarie Group.

Executive director, Chief
Executive Officer,
Australia & New Zealand

Nicolette Liesbeth
RUBINSZTEIN

BBusSc, FIAA,
(E)MBA,
FAICD

Over 25 years of financial services experience. Former
President of Actuaries Institute, General Manager at
Colonial First State, Vice President at BT Funds
Management and ASFA board member.

Non-executive director,
Chairman of the ZFSA
Board Risk, Compliance
and Audit Committee

John Francis
MULCAHY

B.Eng (Hons),
PhD.Eng,
FAICD

Over 30 years' experience in Financial Services. Former
Chief Executive Officer and Group Executive of major
ASX listed Australian companies including Suncorp
Metway, Commonwealth Bank and Lend Lease.

Non-executive director,
Chairman of the ZFSA
People and Remuneration
Committee

Matthew
REILLY

BSc (Hons),
FCCA

Chief Operating Officer, Zurich Asia Pacific with over
20 years' experience in the Zurich business across
Finance and Operations (including Information
Technology, Underwriting and Claims) with particular
focus around large, global transformation programs and
the set-up and running of shared services across the
Zurich Group.

Non-Executive Director,
Chief Operating Officer,
Asia Pacific.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Directors' report (continued)
Director

Qualifications

Experience

Special Responsibilities

Geoffrey Edward
SUMMERHAYES

BBA, GMQ,
GAICD

Over 25 years of financial services experience. Former
Executive Board Member APRA and prior to this held
senior positions including CEO Suncorp Life, Regional
General Manager NAB and CEO MLC Super and
Investments.

Non-executive director

Officer

Qualifications

Experience

Special Responsibilities

Cathy Anne
MANOLIOS

BA, LLM,
FAICD

General Counsel and Head of Corporate Governance
for Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited.
Formerly General Manager Legal & Corporate
Services (Australian Financial Services) at the Colonial
Group, Special Counsel at Ernst & Young Legal,
General Counsel at Legal & General Life of Australia
Limited, Senior Associate at Mallesons Stephan
Jacques. Areas of practice include corporate and
commercial law.

Company secretary

David George
HALLAHAN

B.Com, LLB

Head of Legal - General Insurance for Zurich Financial
Services Australia Limited. Over 25 years of
experience in commercial law, including 12 years in
private practice with Ashurst.

Company secretary

Edmund Ralph
YANG

B.Com, LLB

Head of Tax for Zurich Financial Services Australia
Limited and Regional Tax Director for Zurich in Asia
Pacific. Over 25 years of experience in taxation law
including 11 years of taxation consulting with
Pricewaterhouse Coopers.

Public officer

Meetings of directors
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company’s directors (including meetings of committees of directors)
held during the year ended 31 December 2021, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director.
Meetings attended
Meetings of ZFSA Board

Number of meetings held

Number of meetings attended by:
Paul John Bedbrook
John Inniss Howell
John Francis Mulcahy
Timothy Paul Plant
Justin Sean Delaney
Nicolette Liesbeth Rubinsztein
Matthew Reilly

14
Eligible to
attend

Attended

14
5
14
7
14
14
5

14
13
7
14
14
3

Meetings of Risk,
Compliance and Audit
Committee
6
Eligible to
attend
Attended
6
N/A
6
N/A
N/A
6
N/A

6
N/A
6
N/A
N/A
6
N/A

Meetings of ZFSA People
and Remuneration
Committee
6
Eligible to
attend
Attended
6
N/A
6
N/A
N/A
6
N/A

6
N/A
6
N/A
N/A
6
N/A

N/A = Not applicable, not a member of the Risk, Compliance and Audit Committee and/or the Board of Remuneration
Committee.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Directors' report (continued)
Insurance of officers
During the financial year, the Company has paid a premium to insure all present and past directors, secretaries and executive officers
of the Company or a related body corporate. The insurance grants indemnity against liabilities permitted to be indemnified by the
Company under the Corporations Act 2001. In accordance with normal commercial practice, the insurance policy prohibits
disclosure of the terms of the policy including the nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the premium.
Indemnity of officers
Agreements to Indemnify
The Company's constitution provides that the Company may indemnify, to the extent permitted by law, past and present directors,
and secretaries against any liability incurred as an officer of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company together with legal
costs incurred in defending an action for such a liability.
The Company has also entered into various agreements with persons who are current and former officers or auditors of the Company
and related companies. These agreements variably require the Company (and in some cases related companies) to indemnify those
persons, to the extent permitted by law, against liabilities, some claims and legal costs, they may incur or which are made against
them, in connection with their position or conduct as officers or auditors of the Company and its related companies. The indemnities
provided under these agreements are not limited in amount.
Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of
the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the court under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001.
Rounding of amounts to the nearest thousand dollars
The Company is of a kind referred to in Australian Securities Investments Commission (ASIC) Legislative Instrument 2016/191,
relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Directors’ Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report have been rounded off in
accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.
Auditor
Ernst & Young Australia (EY) replaces PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia in office in accordance with section 327 of the
Corporations Act 2001. A copy of the Auditors’ Independence declaration, as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001, is set out on page 6.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

__________________________
P J Bedbrook
Chairman

_____________________
N L Rubinsztein
Director

Sydney
23 March 2022
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Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney NSW
2001

Tel: +61 2 9248
5555
Fax: +61 2 9248
5959
ey.com/au

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Zurich Financial
Services Australia Limited
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there
have been:
a.

No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit;

b.

No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and

c.

No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in
relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited and the entities it
controlled during the financial year.

Ernst & Young

David Jewell
Partner
23 March 2022

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Consolidated Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Note

Revenue from operations
Investment income
Other income from operations

6(a)
6(b)
6(c)

Total revenue and other income
Life Insurance expenses
General Insurance expenses
Finance costs
Expense from operations

7(b)

Movement in external unitholders’ liabilities

Consolidated
2021
2020
$'000
$'000
*Restated
4,506,694
5,190,021
332,334
249,146
8,401
8,042
4,847,429

5,447,209

(3,420,810)
(1,152,057)
(1,746)

(3,258,795)
(2,067,614)
(737)

(4,574,613)

(5,327,146)

(3,911)

(1,991)

Profit from operations before income tax

7(a)

268,905

118,072

Income tax expense

9(a)

(106,839)

(35,534)

Profit from continuing operations

162,066

82,538

Profit for the year

162,066

82,538

Other comprehensive income
Net gain from fair value adjustment of investment property
Other reserves
Income tax relating to these items
Other comprehensive income recognised for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

3,052
3,052
165,118

76,598
3,474
(17,054)
63,018
145,556

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

Note

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Deferred tax asset
Deferred acquisition costs
Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance
Deferred outwards reinsurance expense
Other assets
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

27(b)
11
12
13
14
15
24(a)

16
17

Total assets

Consolidated
2021
2020
$’000
$’000
*Restated
871,157
969,870
512,663
471,162
8,138,653
7,908,259
1,386,978
1,652,444
391,216
461,298
75,749
49,347
974,333
795,740
155,367
153,357
28,899
29,827
1,545,205
1,486,861
116,502
141,277
24,493
29,014
117,000
89,000
14,338,215

14,237,456

125,490
828,707
155,818
730,060
1,021
2,007,774
66,168
5,335,912
61,599
120,099

147,920
776,114
183,677
667,083
5,269
1,467
2,218,760
77,449
5,373,664
57,559
126,045

Total liabilities

9,432,648

9,635,007

Net assets

4,905,567

4,602,449

3,064,373
72,413
1,768,781

2,926,373
69,361
1,606,715

4,905,567

4,602,449

Liabilities
Lease liabilities

17
18
19
20
21(a)

Payables
Provisions
Unearned premium liability
Unexpired risk liability
Deferred origination fees
Outstanding claims - General Insurance
Deferred tax liabilities
Gross policy liabilities - Life Insurance
Unvested policyholder benefits
Net assets attributable to unitholders and policyholders

22
23
24(a)
25

Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Retained profits

26(a)

Total equity

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Attributable to owners of Zurich Financial Services
Australia Limited
Foreign
currency
Contributed translation and Revaluation
equity other reserves
reserves
$’000
$’000
$’000
Balance at 1 January 2020
Total comprehensive income for the year
Movement in foreign currency translation and other reserves
Net gain from fair value adjustment of investment property
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Additional shares issued to immediate controlling company
Balance at 31 December 2020
Total comprehensive income for the year
Movement in foreign currency translation and other reserves
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Additional shares issued to immediate controlling company
Balance as at 31 December 2021

Retained
profits
$’000

2,753,373

6,343

-

1,524,177

4,283,893

-

3,474
-

59,544

82,538
-

82,538
3,474
59,544

173,000

-

-

-

173,000

2,926,373

9,817

59,544

1,606,715

4,602,449

-

3,052

-

162,066
-

162,066
3,052

138,000

-

-

-

138,000

3,064,373

12,869

59,544

1,768,781

4,905,567

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Total
$’000

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Consolidated
2021
2020
$'000
$'000
*Restated

Note

Net cash flows from operating activities
Net premiums and deposits received, net of reinsurance
Policy and withdrawal payments, net of reinsurance
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Fees and commissions received
Fees and commissions paid
Tax related payments
Dividends received - Life Insurance
Dividends received - General Insurance
Other income received - Life Insurance
Net cash inflows / (outflows) from operating activities

2,389,608
(1,517,581)
(1,174,497)
246,344
390,708
(326,674)
(18,062)
94,863
5,985
90,694

2,298,132
(1,288,780)
(1,376,356)
236,333
414,275
(317,744)
87,090
62,016
4,708
1,068
120,742

3,420,918
(3,470,553)
(2,975)
(49,580)
581,785
(791,173)
(311,578)

1,593,612
(1,554,016)
(19,561)
378
(48,267)
628,692
(660,605)
(59,767)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Principal elements of lease payments
Net cash inflows from financing activities

138,000
(16,489)
121,511

173,000
(11,446)
161,554

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(99,373)

222,529

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

969,870
660
871,157

747,252
89
969,870

27(a)

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment assets - Life Insurance
Payments for investments - Life Insurance
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Purchase of software development
Proceeds from sale of investment assets - General Insurance
Payments for investments - General Insurance
Net cash outflows from investing activities

27(b)

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
*Restatement in 2020 of $129,401k from Purchase of property, plant and equipment to Payments to
suppliers and employees.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
1. Summary of significant accounting policies
The general purpose financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of Zurich Financial Services
Australia Limited (the “Company” or “Parent Entity”) as at 31 December 2021 and all entities which it controlled
during the year then ended. The Company and its controlled entities together are referred to in these financial
statements as the Consolidated entity. For details of the principles of consolidation refer to part (a) of this note.
The general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), and the Corporations Act 2001.
The Company is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.
It is prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except in the case of certain financial assets, as noted
in the accounting policies below, which are measured on the basis of fair value as required by AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and liabilities for long-tail outstanding claims which have been inflated
and discounted as required by AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts, and life insurance contract assets and
liabilities which are measured as required by AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts.
Compliance with IFRSs
The consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 31
December 2021 reporting period. The Consolidated entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and
interpretations is set out below.
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:


AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial
assets. This standard became effective from 1 January 2018, however in October 2016, the AASB published
an amendment to AASB 4 Insurance contracts which provides an option of temporary exemption from AASB
9 for entities that meet certain requirements (applied at the reporting entity level).
As the Group’s operations are connected with insurance, the Group has assessed the applicability of the
exemption and concluded that it meets the necessary requirements. AASB 4 (including the amendments) will
be superseded by the new insurance contracts standard AASB 17 Insurance contracts. Accordingly, the
temporary exemption is expected to cease to be applicable when the new insurance standard becomes effective
on 1 January 2023, as such, AASB 9 will be adopted together with AASB 17 on the latter’s effective date.
For non-insurance operations, the Company has assessed the impact of the requirements on its financial assets
and financial liabilities and considers there to be a non-material impact.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)


AASB 17 was adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board in July 2017 and subsequently amended
in July 2020.



AASB 17 will apply to insurance products of the Consolidated entity from 1 January 2023. AASB 17 will apply
to all insurance business and introduces a 'general model' and ‘variable fee approach’ for recognition and
measurement of insurance contracts. The Life Insurance companies will apply the general model and variable
fee approach. The standard also allows the application of a ‘simplified approach’ if the coverage period of the
contract is 12 months or less or if the liability for remaining coverage under the simplified approach would not
materially differ from the general model. The General Insurance companies will adopt the ‘simplified approach’
for all products. The first applicable reporting period for the Consolidated entity will be for 31 December 2023,
with comparative period for the year ending 31 December 2022 restated on a AASB 17 basis for the year ended
31 December 2022. AASB 17 will be applied retrospectively to all the Consolidated entity’s insurance contacts
on transition, unless it’s impracticable for certain groups of contracts.
Whilst AASB 17 does not change the economics of the insurance business, the standard will impact the
Consolidated entity’s pattern of profit emergence mostly through discounting, risk adjustments, contractual
service margin and onerous contracts. The Company’s capital requirements will also be impacted once the
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) standards are finalised.
The relevant key areas of consideration under AASB 17 are set out below and where possible the current
proposed approach has been detailed:
Portfolios of contracts (with similar risks which are managed together) require disaggregation into those
that are onerous, no significant possibility of becoming onerous and all other, as well as annual cohorts.
This will result in an increase in the number of portfolios and cohorts under AASB 17 compared to AASB
1038 and 1023. For onerous contracts, where the present value of fulfilment cash flows exceeds the carrying
amount of the contractual service margin of a portfolio, the loss component will be recognised in the
insurance service result in profit and loss. The full impact of the Consolidated entity’s onerous contracts for
local reporting is still being determined with the aim to complete this in the second quarter of 2022.
AASB 17 requires the estimate future cash flows to be discounted to reflect the time value of money and
financial risks related to these cash flows but does not prescribe a methodology for determining the discount
rates used. For the in-force insurance and reinsurance contracts, the Consolidated entity will take the option
as stated in AASB 17 to disaggregate the (re-)insurance finance income or expense between profit or loss
and other comprehensive income (OCI) in shareholder’s equity. Under this option, the unwind of discount
in profit or loss under the general model is based on discount rates at the date of initial recognition of the
group of insurance contracts. The difference between the current discount rates and the discount rates at the
date of initial recognition for valuation purposes is presented in OCI. The methodology to determine
discount rate is currently being reviewed with the aim to finalise in 2022.
Risk adjustments are introduced for non-financial risk and is a separate component of the insurance liability
covering uncertainties in the amount and timing of future cash flows. For the Life Insurance entities, the
risk adjustments will be calculated using the Zurich Group methodology, which requires a confidence level
method. This will result in an increase in gross insurance contract liabilities and an increase in reinsurance
contract assets. For the General Insurance entities, the application of the AASB 17 requirements is one of
substantial judgement and the General Insurance entities are currently defining the methodology for
determining the risk adjustment and, in doing so, is giving consideration to evolving industry interpretation.
Given the General Insurance entities ongoing work on this complex component of the standard, the financial
impact cannot be reasonably estimated at the balance date with the aim to complete this in the second half
of 2022;
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
-

-

-

There are also changes to what can be deferred in ‘insurance acquisition cash flows’ as defined in AASB
17. For Life Insurance entities, this will result in an increase in the total acquisition cost to be amortised.
Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows’ will be recognised as part of the insurance contract liabilities
representing acquisition cash flows incurred before the related group of insurance contracts is recognised.
For General Insurance entities, this will result in an increase in the total acquisition costs to be deferred.
Furthermore, for groups of contracts that apply the simplified approach and have a coverage period of one
year or less, AASB 17 provides an option to recognise any insurance acquisition costs as expenses when
incurred. The General Insurance entities do not plan to apply this option and expects to amortise acquisition
costs over the coverage period of the related insurance contracts, consistent with current accounting under
AASB 1023;
The contract boundary, which is the period over which profit is recognised, is determined based on the
ability to compel the policyholder to pay premiums or the substantive obligation to provide
coverage/services. While the Life Insurance entities have performed an initial assessment of the applicable
contract boundaries for each of their products, further review of the determined contract boundaries is
ongoing with the aim to finalise in the second quarter of 2022. The General Insurance companies have
assessed all their Insurance Contracts and will apply the simplified approach across all its products.
Reinsurance contracts and the associated asset is to be determined separately to the gross contract liability
and may have different contract boundaries. The Consolidated entity has assessed all its reinsurance
contracts is expected to apply the general model approach on Life Insurance contracts and will apply the
simplified approach across all its General Insurance products.

The Consolidated entity performs impact assessments through the use of ‘parallel runs’ on an AASB 17 basis,
which is an iterative process for analysing any implementation gaps, redefining approach and re-running
updated processes to reduce these gaps. This will be continued in 2022 to ensure the Consolidated entity
continues to assess the impact of the new requirements and emerging industry guidance on financial
statements.
The standard requires substantial changes in presentation of the financial statements and disclosures by
introducing new balance sheet and income statement line items and increasing disclosure requirements
compared with existing reporting. Market developments also continue to be monitored in order to assess the
impact of evolving interpretations and other changes.
With the impact of the onerous contracts not yet known, methodology to determine both the contract
boundaries and discount rates utilised not yet finalised as well as the ongoing work on refinement of the AASB
17 transition calculation, the financial impact of adopting AASB 17 cannot be reasonably estimated at the date
of this report. The Consolidated entity intends to disclose the potential financial impact of adopting AASB 17
once it is practical to provide a reliable estimate.
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ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Consolidated entity’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Notes 2 and 3.
Significant accounting policies
(a) Principles of consolidation
(i) Controlled entities
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by the
Company as at 31 December 2021 and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended. The effects
of all transactions between entities in the Consolidated entity are eliminated in full.
Controlled entities are those entities where the Company (investor) has:
 power of the entity (investee);
 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity (investee); and
 the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income from the date on which control commences. Where control of an entity
ceases during a financial year its results are included for that part of the year during which control existed.
The financial statements of the controlled Life Insurance entities, comprising policyholders’ funds and
shareholder’s funds, are included in these consolidated financial statements on a line by line basis.
Other categories of assets and liabilities of the Consolidated entity are an aggregation of the general and life
insurance assets and liabilities. Other assets include general insurance operating assets measured at historical
cost and fair value (as applicable) and life insurance operating assets measured at fair value.

14

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Principles of consolidation (continued)
(ii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Consolidated entity has significant influence but not control or joint
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost.
The Consolidated entity’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Consolidated entity’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Consolidated entity does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
(b) Principles of life insurance, investment contracts and general insurance contracts
The accounting treatment of certain transactions in these financial statements varies depending on the nature of
the contract underlying the transactions. The three major contract classifications relevant to the Consolidated
entity are life insurance, life investment and general insurance contracts.
Life insurance and investment contracts
The life insurance operations of the Consolidated entity are conducted within separate statutory funds as required
by the Life Insurance Act 1995 (“the Life Act”) and are reported in aggregate with the shareholder’s fund in the
statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity of
the Consolidated entity. The life insurance operations of the Consolidated entity comprise the selling and
administration of life insurance and life investment contracts.
The accounting treatment of certain transactions in these financial statements varies depending on the nature of
the contract underlying the transactions. The two major contract classifications relevant to the Company are life
insurance contracts and life investment contracts.
Life insurance contracts involve the acceptance of significant insurance risk. Insurance risk is defined as
significant if and only if, an insured event could cause an insurer to pay significant additional benefits in any
scenario, excluding scenarios that lack commercial substance (i.e. have no discernible effect on the economics
of the transaction). In addition, there are some policies that are similar to investment contracts (as defined
below) but the timing and vesting of the profit attributable to the policyholders is at the discretion of Zurich
Australia Limited (ZAL) and OnePath Life Limited (OPL). These policies are referred to as having
discretionary participating features. When such contracts are issued by a registered life insurance entity, and
administered through separate life statutory funds in accordance with the requirements of the Life Act, the
underlying contracts are treated as life insurance contracts.
Insurance contracts include those where the insured benefit is payable on the occurrence of a specified insured
event such as death, injury or disability caused by accident or illness. The insured benefit is either not linked or
only partly linked to the market value of the investments held by ZAL and OPL, and the financial risks are
substantially borne by ZAL and OPL.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Principles of life insurance, investment contracts and general insurance contracts (continued)
Any products sold that do not meet the definition of a life insurance contract, and are still regulated under the
Life Act, are classified as life investment contracts. Life investment contracts include investment-linked
contracts where the benefit amount is directly linked to the market value of the investments held in the particular
investment-linked fund. While the underlying assets are registered in the name of ZAL or OPL and the
investment-linked policy owner has no direct access to the specific assets, the contractual arrangements are such
that the investment-linked policy owner bears the risks and rewards of the fund’s investment performance. ZAL
and OPL derive fee income from the administration of investment linked policies and funds.
Policy contracts that include both investment and insurance elements are separated into these two elements where
possible and reported accordingly. For policies where the investment and insurance elements cannot be separated
due to the nature and terms and conditions of the product, the product classification will be considered on an
individual basis.
General insurance contracts
The general insurance operations of the Consolidated entity comprise the underwriting of various classes of
direct and reinsurance contracts. These contracts transfer risk by agreeing to compensate the insured on the
occurrence of a specified insured event, such as damage to property or the crystallisation of a third party liability
(or the reinsurance thereof), within a given timeframe. These contracts are defined as general insurance contracts.
(c) Insurance premium and related revenue
Life insurance contracts
Premium revenue is earned on life insurance contracts. Premiums with no due date are recognised as revenue
on a cash received basis. Premiums with a regular due date are recognised as revenue on an accruals basis.
Unpaid premiums are only recognised as revenue during the days of grace or where secured by the surrender
value of the policy and are included as “receivables” in the balance sheet. Premiums due after but received
before the end of the financial year are shown as “payables” in the balance sheets.
Life investment contracts
Ongoing fees for investment management services are recognised as revenue as the services are provided. Entry
fees charged to the client on inception are deferred as Deferred Origination Fees (DOF) liability on the balance
sheet and then earned over the period that the services are provided.
General insurance contracts
Direct and inwards reinsurance premium comprises amounts charged to the policyholders or other insurers,
including emergency service levies in Australia, but excluding stamp duties, Goods and Services Tax (GST),
Fire Service Levies in New Zealand and other amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Inwards reinsurance
is insurance contracts entered into by ZAIL or OnePath General Insurance Pty Limited (OPGI) under which the
contract holder is another insurer. The earned portion of premiums received and receivable, including bound but
not incepted and unclosed business, is recognised as revenue. Premium revenue is treated as earned from the
date of attachment of risk. Premiums on unclosed business are brought to account by reference to the previous
year’s premium processing delays, with due allowance for any changes in the pattern of new business and
renewals.
The pattern of recognition of income over the policy or indemnity periods is based on time, which closely
approximates the pattern of risks underwritten. The proportion of premiums received and receivable not earned
in the statement of comprehensive income at the reporting date is recognised in the balance sheet as an unearned
premium liability. The unearned portion of commissions and other acquisition costs are also deferred and shown
as deferred acquisition costs in the balance sheet.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Fee and other revenue
Fees are charged to customers in connection with investment and other financial services contracts. Revenue is
recognised at the time services are provided. In some cases services are provided at the inception of the contract
while other services are performed over the life of the contract.
(e) Dividend and interest income
Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method.
Dividends are recognised when the company obtains control of the right to receive the revenue. This applies
even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits. However, the investment may need to be tested for impairment
as a consequence, refer to Note 1(y).
(f) Insurance claims and related expenses
General insurance contracts
Claims expense represents payment for claims (and claims related expenses) and the movement in outstanding
claims liabilities. Accounting for outstanding claims liabilities is described in Note 1(cc).
Life insurance contracts
Claims incurred relate to life insurance contracts (providing services and bearing risks including income
protection business) and are treated as expenses. Claims are recognised when the liability to the policyholder
under the policy contract has been established, or upon notification of the insured event depending on the type
of claim. Surrenders are recognised when the policyholder formally notifies of their intention to end the policy
previously contracted to.
Life investment contracts
There are no claims expenses in respect of life investment contracts. Surrenders and withdrawals which relate to
life investment contracts are treated as movement in life investment contract liabilities. Surrenders are recognised
when the policyholder formally notifies of their intention to end the policy previously contracted to.
(g) Outwards reinsurance expense
Amounts paid to reinsurers under insurance contracts held by the Consolidated entity are recorded as outwards
reinsurance expense and are recognised in the statements of comprehensive income from the attachment date
over the period of indemnity of the reinsurance contract in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence
of the risk ceded.
Accordingly, a portion of outwards reinsurance expense is treated as a prepayment and presented as deferred
outward reinsurance expense on the balance sheet as at the reporting date.
(h) Basis of expense apportionment – Life Insurance
Expenses in the Consolidated entity are allocated to statutory fund, class, category of business, and between
insurance contracts and investment contracts based on the fees incurred under a service agreement between ZAL
and the Company, and between OPL and the Company.
The fees within the service agreements are based on the results of an activity based costing exercise which
allocates expenses across product groups and functions. Expenses are allocated directly where possible, or are
apportioned using business drivers and statistics such as policy counts, annual premiums, funds under
management and claim payments. The expense apportionments are carried out in accordance with Division 2 of
Part 6 of the Life Insurance Act.
Apportionment between policy acquisition, policy maintenance and investment management expenses has been
made in line with principles set out in Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) Prudential Standard
LPS 340 Valuation of Policy Liabilities.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Borrowings and finance costs
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Consolidated entity has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs comprise
interest on bank overdrafts.
(j) Employee benefits
Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave are recognised, and are measured at the amount
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Long service leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured at the present value of expected future payments
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.
Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to certain executive employees of the Company via the Zurich
Financial Services global long term performance share plan and the Zurich Financial Services global share option
plan which are administered globally by a central share holding vehicle.
The Company purchases the right to shares from this holding vehicle on behalf of executives who participate in
the plans for an amount approximating their fair value. This purchase by the Company is recorded as a
prepayment asset which is amortised over the vesting period, typically a 3 year period, and reflects the cost to
the Company of the share-based benefits. When shares vest with the participants, the central share vehicle
transfers those shares directly to the participants.
(k) Leases
On applying AASB 16 Leases, the Company has used the following practical expedients permitted by the
standard:
 Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics
 Accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January
2021 as short-term leases
 Excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(l) Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable or receivable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised using the liability method for temporary differences at the tax
rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which
are enacted or substantively enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible
and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for
certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred tax asset
or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a
business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit
or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the Parent Entity is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised
directly in equity.

19

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(l) Income tax (continued)
Tax consolidation legislation
The Consolidated entity is part of a tax consolidated group, of which the Company is the head tax entity, and
which implemented the tax consolidation legislation on 1 October 2003.
The Company and the entities in the tax consolidated group (including the Consolidated entity and other
related entities outside the Consolidated entity) continue to account for their own current and deferred tax
amounts. These tax amounts are measured stand-alone basis approximating the basis as if each entity in the tax
consolidated group was a separate taxpayer within that group.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from
entities within the tax consolidated group.
Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group.
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) tax consolidated entities. For further
details see income tax Note 9.
(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets, liabilities are disclosed net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO) and New Zealand Inland Revenue (IRD).
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item
of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO and IRD is included as a current asset or
current liability in the balance sheets.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO and IRD are classified
as operating cash flows.

20

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(n) Emergency Services Levy and other statutory charges
A liability for fire brigade and other statutory charges is recognised on business written to the balance date.
Levies and charges payable are expensed on the same basis as the recognition of premium revenue, with the
portion relating to unearned premium being recorded as a prepayment.
(o) Foreign currency translation
The financial statements of the Consolidated entity are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional
and presentation currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into Australian currency at the
rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. At balance date, amounts payable and receivable in foreign
currencies are translated into Australian currency at rates of exchange current at that date. Resulting exchange
differences are brought to account in determining the profit or loss for the year.
The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
 Assets and liabilities at closing rate at balance date;
 Income and expenses at year to date average exchange rate; and
 All resulting exchange gains are recognized as a separate component of equity.
(p) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within interest bearing liabilities in liabilities on the balance sheet.
(q) Financial assets
The Consolidated entity classifies its financial assets into the following categories: Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; financial assets at fair value through equity; and loans and receivables which are financial
assets carried at amortised cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date – the date on which the Consolidated entity
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at cost. These assets are
subsequently measured at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not
active (and for unlisted securities), the Consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include reference to the fair values of recent arm’s length transactions, involving the same instruments
or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models
refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Consolidated entity
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Investment assets of the controlled General Insurance companies have been determined as assets backing
policy liabilities and are therefore valued at fair value through profit or loss.
The assets held within the statutory funds of the controlled Life Insurance companies are assets backing policy
liabilities and retained profits of the statutory funds, and all assets held within the shareholder fund are assets
that do not back policy liabilities.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(q) Financial assets (continued)
Fair value is determined as follows:
 Cash assets and bank overdrafts are carried at face value of the amounts deposited or drawn. The carrying
amounts of cash assets and bank overdrafts approximate their fair value.
 Shares, fixed interest securities, options and units listed on stock exchanges: fair value is taken as the bid
price of the instrument.
 Unlisted fixed interest securities are recorded at amounts based on valuations using rates of interest
equivalent to the yields obtainable on comparable investments at balance date.
 Unlisted unit trusts are recorded at redemption price.
 Reinsurance recoveries receivables are measured as the present value of the expected future receipts,
calculated on the same basis as the life insurance policy liabilities to which they relate.
 Investments in associates held within statutory funds are recorded at fair value based on the underlying net
asset value of the associate entity.
 Loans are recorded at outstanding principal balance less any provision for impairment.
 Receivables are carried at cost which is the best estimate of fair value, as they are usually settled within
twelve months less provision for impairment.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They arise when the Consolidated entity provides money, goods or services
directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. Loans and receivables are included in
receivables in the balance sheets (Note 11).
Receivables are carried at cost which is the best estimate of fair value, as they are usually settled within twelve
months and subsequently subject to impairment testing. Impairment testing is based on collectability of
receivables and is reviewed on an ongoing basis. An impairment charge is recognised when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the contracts.
The impairment charge is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(r) Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable on general and life insurance paid claims, reported claims not yet
paid, claims incurred but not reported (IBNR), claims incurred but not enough reported and unexpired risk
liabilities are recognised as revenue. General insurance recoveries receivable are assessed in a manner similar to
the assessment of general insurance outstanding claims. Recoveries receivable in relation to long-tail classes are
measured as the present value of the expected future receipts, evaluated on the same basis as the liability for
general insurance outstanding claims and life insurance policyholder liabilities to which they relate.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Deferred acquisition costs
General insurance contracts
The fixed and variable costs of acquiring new business, “the acquisition costs”, include commission, advertising,
policy issue and underwriting costs, agency expenses and premium collection costs.
A portion of acquisition costs relating to unearned premium revenue is deferred and recognised as an asset,
where it can be reliably measured and where it is probable that it will give rise to premium revenue that will be
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in future periods. Deferred acquisition costs are measured
at the lower of cost and recoverable amount and are amortised in accordance with the earning pattern of the
corresponding premium revenue.
Life insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features
The costs incurred in acquiring specific life insurance contracts include advisor fees, commission payments,
underwriting costs, application processing costs, relevant advertising costs, and promotion of products and
related activities.
Life insurance contract acquisition costs are deferred provided that these amounts are recoverable out of future
product margins (including margins arising from the in force portfolio for the same related product group).
Otherwise, losses arising on acquisition are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in
which they occur. The deferred amounts are recognised in the balance sheet as a reduction in the life insurance
liabilities and are amortised through the statement of comprehensive income over the expected duration of the
relevant policies.
(t) Deferred origination costs
Life insurance contracts and investment contracts with non-discretionary participation features
Life investment contracts issued result in commissions and payments to external service and advice providers.
Acquisition costs arising in relation to investment contract business can only be deferred to the extent they are
incremental and directly attributable to securing the contracts. Non-incremental costs are recognised and
expensed as they occur.
The deferred portion of the expenses is recognised as a Deferred Origination Cost (DOC) asset. The DOC asset
is recognised in the balance sheet as an intangible asset and is amortised on a straight line basis over seven years.
A recoverability test on DOC asset is carried out on an annual basis.
(u) Property, plant and equipment
Owner-occupied land and buildings are shown at historical cost less depreciation. Land and buildings are initially
recorded at cost, plus transaction costs. Buildings are subsequently depreciated on a straight line basis so as to
write off the net cost of each building over the expected useful life. Land is not depreciated.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Consolidated
entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Plant and equipment is initially recorded at cost, plus transaction costs. It is subsequently depreciated on a
straight line or reducing balance basis so as to write off the net cost of each item over its expected useful life to
the Consolidated entity. The written down amount will usually approximate fair value.
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(u) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis for all assets, with annual reassessments for
major items. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1(w)). The expected useful lives are as
follows:
Buildings:
Plant and equipment:
Software:

25 years
3 – 20 years
3 – 5 years

An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included
in the Statement of comprehensive income.
(v) Investment property
Investment properties are initially recorded at cost, plus transaction costs. Investment properties are subsequently
measured at fair value on an annual basis.
Fair value represents the amount that would be received should the asset be sold in an arm’s length transaction
to another market participant. Fair value is determined by an independent valuer with the appropriate
qualifications and knowledge of the property being valued. The valuer applies a capitalisation and discounted
cash flow approach where the annual net market income and comparable capitalisation rates are used along with
the discounted expected net cash flows are used to determine fair value.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included
in the Statement of comprehensive income.
(w) Intangible assets
Intangible assets with a finite useful life such as Software are typically amortised on a straight-line basis over 3
years.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are subject to impairment review annually and whenever there is
an indication that the asset may be impaired. These assets are not amortised.
Software and systems
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will
contribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and cost reduction are capitalised to
software and systems. Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service, direct payroll and
payroll related costs of employees’ time spent on the project.
Software development
Software development costs which are recognised as intangible assets include only those costs attributable to the
development phase and are only recognised following completion of technical feasibility, where the
Consolidated entity has an intention and ability to complete and use the asset to generate probable future
economic benefits, and where the expenditure attributable to the software can be reliably measured. Other
development expenditure which does not satisfy these criteria is recognised as expenses when incurred.
The carrying value of intangible assets is assessed according to the accounting policy for impairment of assets
as set out in accounting policy Note 1(y).
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(w) Intangible assets (continued)
Value of Business Acquired (VOBA)
Value of business acquired is the intangible asset representing the present value future profits expected to emerge
from life insurance contracts acquired in a business combination or portfolio transfer. The VOBA is calculated
as the present value of accounting profits after tax, less an allowance for the cost of capital. Projected profits are
net of external and internal reinsurance. The VOBA is amortised over the expected life of the acquired contracts.
The carrying value of the value of business acquired intangible asset is tested periodically for impairment as part
of the liability adequacy test for insurance contracts.
Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the fair value of the net tangible assets and
any identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination.
Goodwill is classified as an intangible asset and is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of the business include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the business sold.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units (CGU’s) based on the level at which management
monitors operations and makes decisions relating to the continuation or disposal of assets and operations
Brands
Brands have an indefinite life and are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
Distribution agreement
Distribution agreements are amortised over a 20 year period. Distribution agreements are tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
(x) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued
or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.
Acquisition-related costs are expenses as incurred.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Consolidated entity’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income, but only
after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of the acquisition. The discount rate used is the incremental borrowing rate,
being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(x) Business combinations (continued)
Contingent liabilities are required to be recognised at the acquisition date as assumed in a business
combination where there is a present obligation that arises from past events and its fair value can be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are required to be recognised in the Consolidated entity financial statements of
the acquiring company.
(y) Impairment of assets
Financial assets measured at fair value, where changes in value are reflected in the statement of comprehensive
income, are not subject to impairment testing. Other assets such as receivables are subject to impairment testing.
Investments in associates and other assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangibles are subject to
impairment testing where at each balance date the Consolidated entity assesses whether there is objective
evidence that these assets are impaired.
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, such as identifiable intangible assets, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested at least annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value (including realisation costs)
and its value in use.
(z) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Consolidated entity prior to the end of
the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition. Trade and other payables are represented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12
months after the reporting period.
(aa) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
(bb)Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the financial year but not
distributed at balance date.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies
(cc) Outstanding claims
General insurance
The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate of the present value of expected future
payments against claims incurred at the reporting date under general insurance contracts issued by the controlled
entities ZAIL and OPGI, with an additional risk margin to allow for the inherent uncertainty in the central
estimate. The expected future payments include those in relation to outstanding claims, claims incurred but not
reported (IBNR), claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER) and their associated allocated costs as well
as anticipated claims handling costs.
Claims handling costs include those costs that cannot be directly associated with individual claims, such as
claims administration costs. The expected future payments are discounted to present value using a risk free
rate.
(dd)Policy liabilities – Life Insurance
Policy liabilities consist of life insurance contract liabilities and life investment contract liabilities.
Life insurance contract liabilities
The value of life insurance contract liabilities is calculated using the margin on services methodology. Under
this methodology, planned profit margins and an estimate of future liabilities are calculated separately for each
related product group at each reporting date. Profit margins are released over each reporting period in line with
the services that have been provided. The balance of the planned profits is deferred by including them in the
value of policy liabilities. Further details of the actuarial assumptions used in these calculations are set out in
Note 3b. In addition, life insurance contract liabilities also include incurred but not reported, reported but not
admitted, and claims in course of payment reserves.
Life investment contract liabilities
Life investment contracts liabilities are valued at fair value, which is based on the account balance of the
investment contracts, subject to a minimum of the current surrender value.
(ee) Unexpired risk liabilities
General insurance contracts
At each reporting date ZAIL and OPGI assess whether the unearned premium liability is sufficient to cover all
expected future cash flows relating to future claims against current insurance contracts. This assessment is
referred to as the liability adequacy test and is performed separately for each group of contracts subject to broadly
similar risks and managed together as a single portfolio.
If the present value of the expected future cash flows relating to future claims plus the additional risk margin to
reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate exceeds the unearned premium liability less related
intangible assets and related deferred acquisition costs, net of reinsurance then the unearned premium liability is
deemed to be deficient. ZAIL and OPGI apply a risk margin to achieve the same probability of sufficiency for
future claims as is achieved by the estimate of the outstanding claims liability, see Note 22.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies
(ee) Unexpired risk liabilities (continued)
A write down to recoverable amount is recognised when the present value of expected future claims (including
settlement costs and risk margins) in relation to business written to the reporting date exceeds related unearned
premium revenue. The entire deficiency, net of reinsurance, is recognised immediately in the statement of
comprehensive income. The deficiency is recognised first by writing down any related intangible assets and then
related deferred acquisition costs, with any excess being recorded in the balance sheets as an unexpired risk
liability.
(ff) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Australian Securities Investments Commission (ASIC) Legislative
Instrument 2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the
financial statements have been rounded off in accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars,
or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.
(gg) Comparative information
Where necessary, the amounts shown for the previous year have been reclassified to facilitate comparison.
(hh) Parent Entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, ZFSA, disclosed in Note 35 has been prepared on the same basis
as the consolidated financial statements.
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2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates
The Consolidated entity makes estimates and assumptions in respect of certain key assets and liabilities. Estimates
and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The key areas in which
critical estimates are applied are described below.
(a) The ultimate liability arising from claims incurred under general insurance contracts in ZAIL and OPGI.
A liability is held at 31 December 2021 for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled, including the cost
of claims incurred but not yet reported to ZAIL and OPGI.
The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims gross of the expected value of
salvage and other recoveries. ZAIL and OPGI takes all reasonable steps to obtain appropriate information regarding
its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing the outstanding claims liability, it is likely that
the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established.
The estimation of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than
the estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to ZAIL and OPGI, where information about the claim
event is generally available. IBNR claims may often not be apparent to the insured until many years after the events
giving rise to the claims have happened. In addition, IBNER is also subject to uncertainty. The long-tailed classes of
business will typically display greater variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because there is a
greater degree of difficulty in estimating IBNR and IBNER reserves. For the short-tailed classes, claims are typically
reported soon after the claim event, and hence tend to display lower levels of uncertainty.
In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims ZAIL and OPGI uses a variety of estimation techniques, generally
based upon actuarial analysis of historical experience, which assumes that the development pattern of the current
claims will be consistent with past experience. Allowance is made, however, for changes or uncertainties which may
create distortions in the underlying data or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce when
compared with the cost of previously settled claims including:









Changes in ZAIL’s and OPGI’s processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and/or
recording of paid or incurred claims, compared with the data from previous periods;
Changes in the legal environment;
The effects of inflation (both economic and superimposed);
Changes in the mix of business;
The impact of large losses;
Movements in industry benchmarks;
Medical and technological developments; and
Changes in policyholder behaviour.

A component of these techniques is usually the estimation of the cost of notified but not paid claims. In estimating
the cost of these, ZAIL and OPGI has regard to the claim circumstance as reported, any information available from
loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims with similar characteristics in previous periods.
Large claims impacting each relevant business class are generally assessed separately, being measured on a case by
case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the effect of the development and incidence of these large
claims.
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2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
(a) The ultimate liability arising from claims incurred under general insurance contracts in ZAIL and OPGI
(continued)
Where possible ZAIL and OPGI adopt multiple techniques to estimate the required level of liabilities. This assists
in giving greater understanding of the trends inherent in the data being projected. The projections given by the various
methodologies also assist in setting the range of possible outcomes. The most appropriate estimation technique is
selected, taking into account the characteristics of the business class and the extent of the development of each
accident year. Liabilities are evaluated gross of any reinsurance and non-reinsurance recoveries. A separate estimate
is made of the amounts that will be recoverable based upon the gross liabilities.
Details of specific assumptions used in deriving the outstanding claims liability at year end are detailed in Note 3.
(b) Life Insurance contract liabilities in ZAL and OPL
Life insurance contract liabilities are computed using statistical or mathematical methods. The computations are
made by suitably qualified personnel on the basis of recognised actuarial methods, with due regard to relevant
actuarial principles. The methodology takes into account the risks and uncertainties of the particular classes of life
insurance business written. Deferred acquisition costs are connected with the measurement basis of life Insurance
contract liabilities. Both of these are sensitive to the factors that are considered in the liability measurement. The
deferred acquisition costs are included within the life insurance liabilities.
The key factors that affect the estimation of these liabilities and related assets are:

the cost of providing benefits and administering these insurance contracts;

mortality and morbidity experience on life insurance products, including an estimate of the impact of any
enhancements to policyholder benefits;

discontinuance experience, which affects ZAL’s and OPL’s ability to recover the cost of acquiring new
business over the duration of the contracts; and

the amounts credited to policyholders’ accounts compared to the returns on invested assets.
In addition, factors such as regulation, competition, interest rates, taxes, securities market conditions and general
economic conditions affect the level of these liabilities. In some contracts, ZAL and OPL share experience on
mortality, morbidity, persistency, expenses and investment results with its customers, this can offset the impact of
these factors on profitability from those products.
Details of specific actuarial assumptions and methods are set out in Note 3.
(c) Assets arising from reinsurance contracts
Reinsurance recoveries are also computed using the above methods. In addition, the recoverability of these assets is
assessed on a periodic basis so that the balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be received, taking
into consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk. Impairment is recognised where there is objective
evidence that the Consolidated entity may not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured.
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2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
(d) Recognition of deferred tax assets in ZAL and OPL
Deferred tax assets (DTA) for deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward are recognised where
future income is expected to become available to absorb the deductible temporary differences and losses not
previously used. For superannuation business, if policyholders redeem their policy before sufficient gains have
occurred to offset past losses, the potential deferred tax asset on the related investments will not be recoverable.
(e) Value of business acquired
The value of business acquired intangible asset is measured using actual inforce policy data on acquisition date and
assumptions underpinning the expected future profits applicable to the acquired portfolio. Value of business acquired
uses a risk-adjusted discount rate derived from the weighted-average cost of capital method. Value of business
acquired is amortised over its useful life.
(f) COVID-19
The World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 a pandemic in March 2020. COVID-19 has had a significant
impact on the global economy including the insurance industry, and continues to give rise to uncertainty and volatility
in global economies and markets. In determining the impact of COVID-19 on the 2021 financial results, the
Company has calculated its claims liability in line with the critical accounting judgements noted above, but also
considered additional factors and assumptions specific to COVID-19. Given the ongoing impact of this virus, and
related uncertainty, market conditions are likely to change and the impact of these changes will be accounted for in
subsequent reporting periods.
COVID-19 has impacted General Insurance gross written premium, which for the Travel product fell by $478m in
2020 compared to the prior financial year, and has partially recovered by $102m in 2021 compared to 2020. COVID19 has also impacted claims, with the company recording estimated losses of $113m gross and $30m net to date
(2020: $253m gross and $35m net), across business interruption, travel losses, and potential liability claims. This
estimate has been based on a detailed review of the Company’s exposures using scenario analysis under a variety of
macroeconomic and legislative outcomes. Uncertainty remains around potential claims emergence from property
business interruption claims and certain long-tail classes and the Company will continue to closely monitor emerging
claims experience, legislative outcomes and wider market developments so that the net losses are reflective of
expected future claims. The impact of COVID-19 on the recoverability of receivables from insurance and reinsurance
contracts has been considered and no recoverability issues have been identified.
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3. Actuarial assumptions and methods
(a) General Insurance
ZAIL
ZAIL writes both short-tailed and long-tailed business. The Appointed Actuary, James Goodchild (MA FIAA),
is satisfied as to the nature, sufficiency and accuracy of the data used to determine the outstanding claims
liabilities. The process for determining the value of outstanding claims liabilities including the cost of claims
handling is described below.
The methods used to establish the ultimate cost of claims include the following:





Projecting ultimate numbers of claims and multiplying by projected ultimate average cost;
Projecting ultimate claim payments;
Projecting ultimate incurred claim amounts; and
Applying plan or forecast loss ratios to earned premiums.

Claims inflation is incorporated into the resulting projected payments, to allow for both general economic
inflation (generally wage inflation) as well as any superimposed inflation detected in the modelling of payments
experience. Superimposed inflation arises from non-economic factors such as legal developments. Future wage
inflation is based on current levels and economic indicators. Future superimposed inflation is assessed based on
current trends and industry information.
Projected reinsurance assets are derived using similar methods or applying net to gross ratios.
Projected payments are discounted to allow for the time value of money, based on current risk free interest rates.
All these methods rely on future development being consistent with historical development and are thus subject
to uncertainty surrounding changes to these patterns from whatever cause. In addition, there is uncertainty
arising from the underlying assumptions for future wage inflation and superimposed inflation and of discount
rates. Significant events, such as catastrophes, close to the balance sheet date also increase the level of
uncertainty. The presence of asbestos claims in the portfolio and the potential emergence of new types of latent
claims also increase the potential variability of the outcome.
For these reasons a risk margin is added to the central estimate established above. The establishment of the risk
margin takes into account the variability of the outcome of each line of business and the diversification benefit of
writing a number of lines of business. The board and management have decided that the level of risk margin
shall be established to provide a probability of adequacy of 85% (2020: 85%).
OPGI
During the period, OPGI underwrote consumer credit insurance products (credit card, loan insurance and mortgage
protection). From 1 August 2015, the Company ceased to underwrite personal lines general insurance products,
and all personal lines general insurance co-insured policies incepted prior to 1 August 2015 have been fully
reinsured with QBE. However, the Company has retained risk on all losses occurring on personal lines general
insurance co-insured policies prior to 1 August 2015.
In addition to the products listed above, from May 2016 OPGI commenced underwriting an add-on product
covering family care benefits and involuntary unemployment attaching to OnePath Life Lump Sum and Income
Protection.
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(a) General Insurance (continued)
For all classes of business, standard payment based actuarial techniques have been used. The Paid BornhuetterFerguson (“PBF”) is the primary valuation method used. The Expected Claim Ratio method is used for the most
recent accident quarter.
Paid claim development patterns vary by product. Selected development patterns are typically based on the
weighted average development over the last 4, 8 or 12 quarters (excluding the latest incomplete quarter), after
assessing for reasonableness and materiality of change from the selected patterns from the previous valuation.
Initial expected loss ratios vary by valuation group and are in the range of 1% - 50% (2020: 1% - 55%) for
consumer credit products and 55% - 73% (2020: 55% - 73%) for other general insurance products.
(i) Selected key variables – ZAIL and OPGI
The following indicators reflect the key variables that have been used in determining the outstanding claims liabilities.

Average weighted term
to settlement - ZAIL
Average weighted term
to settlement - OPGI
Discount rate – ZAIL
Discount rate - OPGI
Wage inflation - ZAIL

Superimposed inflation
– ZAIL
Superimposed inflation
- OPGI

2021
Long-tail
3.1 years

2021
Short-tail
0.6 years

2020
Long-tail
3.1 years

2020
Short-tail
0.7 years

N/A

0.96 years

N/A

N/A

0.76%
N/A
3.75% for asbestos
related reserves
otherwise 2.00%
0 to 6.0%

0.22%
0.60%
N/A

0.22%
N/A
3.75% for asbestos
related reserves
otherwise 2.00%
0 to 6.0%

0.05%
0.10%
N/A

N/A

Implicit in
method for both
succeeding and
subsequent
periods

N/A

Implicit in
method for both
succeeding and
subsequent
periods

N/A
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3. Actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)
(a) General Insurance (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis – general insurance contracts - ZAIL and OPGI
ZAIL and OPGI conduct sensitivity analysis to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables.
The valuations included in the reported results are calculated using certain assumptions about these variables as disclosed
above. The movement in any key variable will impact the profit after tax of ZAIL and OPGI. The table below gives an
analysis of the sensitivity of the profit/(loss) for 2021 and 2020.
Impact of changes in key variables – ZAIL and OPGI
As at 31 December
Movement in
Variable
Short-tail and long-tail
Average weighted term to settlement – years – ZAIL
Discount rate - ZAIL
Discount rate – OPGI
Wage inflation and superimposed inflation rates – ZAIL
Paid claim development factors – OPGI
Initial expected loss ratios – OPGI
Claim handling expense rate - OPGI

Financial assets
Shift in yield curve – ZAIL
Equity prices - ZAIL
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Movement in Profit/(Loss)
2021
2020
$’000
$’000

0.5
-0.5
1%
-1%
1%
-1%
1%
-1%
1%
-1%
1%
-1%
1%
-1%

1,006
(1,176)
15,897
(17,019)
45
(46)
(3,299)
2,969
(28)
28
(37)
37
(3)
3

(1,092)
900
15,442
N/A
84
N/A
(4,766)
4,398
(39)
39
(65)
65
(4)
4

1%
-1%
20%
-20%

(30,091)
30,091
27,570
(27,570)

(31,130)
31,130
22,231
(22,231)
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3. Actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)
(b) Life Insurance
The effective date of the actuarial report on policy liabilities and capital adequacy requirement is 31 December 2021. The
Appointed Actuaries, Stuart Turner (ZAL) and Ian Wong (OPL), are satisfied as to the accuracy of the data upon which
policy liabilities have been determined.
The amount of policy liabilities has been determined in accordance with methods and assumptions disclosed in these
financial statements, with the applicable accounting standards and with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995.
Policy liabilities comprise life insurance contract liabilities and life investment contract liabilities.
The nature of the terms of the life Insurance contracts written is such that certain external variables can be identified on
which related cash flows for claim payments depend. The tables below provide an overview of the key variables upon
which the amount of related cash flows for the life insurance contracts are dependent.
Type of contract

Detail of contract
workings

Nature of
compensation for
claims

Key variables that affect the
timing and uncertainty of
future cash flows

Non-participating Life
insurance contracts
with fixed terms (Term,
Total and Permanent
Disablement “TPD”,
trauma and disability
income, nonparticipating
endowment and whole
of life)

Benefits paid on death
or ill health that are
fixed and not at the
discretion of the issuer.

Benefits, defined by the
insurance contract, are
determined by the
contract and are not
directly affected by the
performance of
underlying assets or the
performance of the
contracts as a whole.

Mortality
Morbidity
Interest rates
Lapses
Expenses
Longevity

Life insurance contracts
with discretionary
participating benefit
(participating
endowment
and whole of Life)

These policies include a
clearly defined initial
guaranteed sum assured
which is payable on
death. Regular bonuses
are also added annually
at the discretion of ZAL
and these are also
payable on death or
maturity where
applicable. Once
declared, bonuses
cannot be removed.

Benefits arising from
the
discretionary
participation
feature are based on the
performance of a
specified
pool of contracts or a
specified type of
contract.

Mortality
Morbidity
Market earning rates
Interest rates
Lapses
Expenses

(i) Policy liabilities
These amounts, together with future premiums and investment earnings, are required to:
a. meet the payment of future benefits and expenses; and
b. provide for future profits.
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(b) Life Insurance (continued)
(i)

Policy liabilities (continued)
The life insurance contract liabilities have been calculated in accordance with the requirements of APRA
Prudential Standard LPS 340 “Valuation of Policy Liabilities” under section 114 of the Life Insurance Act 1995.
The Prudential Standard requires the life insurance contract liabilities to be calculated in a way which allows for
the systematic release of planned margins as services are provided to policyholders.
The life investment contract liabilities are the financial instrument element of the life investment contracts. These
are valued using a fair value approach. The investment contracts give rise to a further liability, the deferred
origination fees (DOF), and an asset, the deferred origination costs (DOC), which are explained in Note 1. These
are considered to be separate assets and liabilities under the relevant accounting standards. Under the APRA
Prudential Standard LPS 340 ‘Valuation of Policy Liabilities’ the investment contract liability includes the DOC
and DOF.
The methods and profit carriers for particular policy types are as follows:

Company
Business type
Individual – non
participating
Conventional
Lump sum risk

Consumer Credit Life
Insurance
Income stream risk
Lifetime annuity

ZAL
Method

Profit carrier

Method

Projection
Projection

Premiums
Premiums

Projection
Projection

n/a
Projection
Projection

n/a

OPL
Profit carrier

Projection
Projection

Death claims
Stepped Premiums,
Funeral Insurance –
Death Claims
Single – Death Claims
Regular - Premiums
Step premiums
Annuity payments

n/a

Protected income base

Projection

Variable Annuity with
Longevity Risk
Group – non-participating

n/a

Premiums
Annuity
payments
n/a

Lump sum risk
Group salary continuance
Individual – participating

Accumulation
Accumulation

n/a
n/a

Accumulation
Accumulation

n/a
n/a

Conventional

Participating Value
Supporting Assets (VSA)

Cost of bonus

Cost of bonus

Participating Investment
Account

n/a

n/a

Participating
Value
Supporting
Assets (VSA)
Projection
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3. Actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)
The methods for valuing insurance contract liabilities vary as follows:


The projection method determines a best estimate value of the liabilities being the net present value of the
expected future payments and receipts under the policy, based on obligations at the reporting date. Added to that
is the best estimate value of the expected future profits to emerge under the policies to form the policy liability.
Best estimate assumptions are neither deliberately overstated nor deliberately understated.



The accumulation method is used for Group Risk business.



The Value of Supporting Assets (VSA) method is a form of projection method that is used where the policies
include benefits that provide a discretionary entitlement to share in the investment experience of assets backing
them and other operating experiences.

Part (ii) below explains how the key assumptions used in the calculations were derived, any significant differences by
type of business or class of business and any changes in the assumptions from those of the previous year. There were no
significant changes in the methodology used to set the assumptions from last year.
(ii) Actuarial assumptions
a. Discount rates
ZAL:
The discount rates assumed for contracts in Statutory Fund 2 that are contractually linked to the performance of the
assets held are derived from the expected long-term average rates of return for the relevant asset pools based on the
benchmark asset mix in line with the documented investment policy for each pool.
For contracts which are not contractually linked to the performance of the assets held, a risk free discount rate has
been used. The risk free rate is determined from a Commonwealth Government Bonds (CGB) curve.
Discount rates assumed (before tax), range from 0.41% p.a. to 3.91% p.a. (2020: 0.04% p.a. to 3.05% p.a.).
OPL:
Non-participating business is discounted at a risk free rate. The risk free rate is determined from a CGB curve.
Annuity business is discounted at risk free rate plus liquidity premium.
The risk free rate (before tax) varied by duration between 0.0% and 2.6% (2020: 0.1% and 2.1%). The risk free rate
plus liquidity premium (before tax) varied by duration between 0.2% and 2.8% (2020: 0.6% and 2.4%).
Participating business uses discount rates derived from the expected long-term average rates of investment earnings
of the relevant asset pool, based on 10 year bond rates with assumed margins for equities and property. The rates
assumed (before tax) is 2.6% (2020: 2.0%).
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(b) Life Insurance (continued)
(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued)
b. Bonus and interest crediting rates (ZAL)
Ordinary declared
Superannuation declared

Bonus
Par Interest
Non Par Interest
Bonus
Par Interest
Non Par Interest

2.00% p.a. (2020: 1.75% p.a.)
2.50 % p.a. (2020: 2.50% p.a.)
1.00 % p.a. (2020: 1.80% p.a.)
6.25 % p.a. (2020: 5.75% p.a.)
3.25 % p.a. (2020: 3.50% p.a.)
1.00 % p.a. (2020: 1.80% p.a.)

The declared bonus rates are for the year ending at the valuation date. Bonus rates applying to different whole of
Life policies and endowment series will vary according to the respective bonus linkages applying to each series.
The declared rate applying to different classes of investment account business will vary according to the respective
policy conditions applying under each contract.
c. Future expenses and indexation
Future maintenance expense unit costs have been assumed primarily using the expected expenses in the business
plan, which are based on the results of an activity based costing exercise which allocates expenses across product
groups and functions. Maintenance expense assumptions are expected to be sufficient to cover the costs of
servicing each policy in the year following the reporting date. Expenses are allocated directly where possible (such
as using cost centre manager surveys), or are apportioned using business drivers and statistics such as policy
counts, annual premiums, funds under management and claim payments. The expense apportionments are carried
out in accordance with Division 2 of Part 6 of the Life Insurance Act 1995. A claims management expense unit
cost is also derived based on an assessment of expected resources utilised in managing claims by product.
For ZAL, future investment expense assumptions at 31 December 2021 have been assumed to vary depending on
the product type from between 0.04% to 0.36% (2020: 0.04% to 0.36%).
For OPL, investment management expenses are based on agreed rates with investment managers.
Benefits and/or premiums under most of the Life risk policies are automatically indexed. The indexation of sums
insured for retail risk products is based on the inflation assumption. Assumed future take-up of these indexation
options has been based on ZAL’s previous experience.
Allowance is made for benefit indexation on immediate annuities and disability income open claims at agreed
levels. For Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) indexed annuity instalments and CPI indexed disability income open
claims, the inflation rate is determined based upon an inflation curve derived from available market instruments.
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(b) Life Insurance (continued)
(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued)
d.

Inflation
For ZAL, the inflation assumption is set taking into account a number of factors including market implied inflation
rate, average weekly ordinary time earnings compared to inflation, RBA long-term inflation target and the impact
of project expense amortisation. For ZAL, the assumption is set at a range between 1.75% p.a. and 3.1% p.a. (2020:
1.5% to 2.8% p.a).
For OPL, the long term inflation assumption was determined by considering the Reserve Bank of Australia’s stated
long-term range and current market conditions. The rate assumed is 2.00% (2020: 1.75%).

e.

Future participating benefits
For participating business, ZAL’s policy is to set bonus rates so that over long periods, the returns to policyholders
are commensurate with the investment returns achieved on relevant assets, together with other sources of profit
arising from this business. Distributions are split between policyholders and shareholders with the valuation
allowing for shareholders to share in distributions at the maximum allowable rate of 20%. In applying the
policyholders’ share of distributions to provide bonuses, consideration is given to equity between generations of
policyholders and equity between the various classes and sizes of policies in force. Assumed future bonus rates
included in policy liabilities are set such that the present value of policy liabilities equates to the present value of
assets supporting the business together with assumed investment returns, allowing for the shareholder’s right to
participate in distributions.
For ZAL, assumed future bonus and interest rates for the major classes of individual participating business are:
Ordinary

Bonus
Par interest

0.96% p.a.
1.93% p.a.

(2020: 0.38% p.a.)
(2020: 2.19%p.a.)

Superannuation

Bonus
Par interest

4.05% p.a.
1.82% p.a.

(2020: 3.33%p.a.)
(2020: 1.82%p.a.)

These future bonus and interest rates make no allowance for future distribution of unvested policyholder benefits.
For OPL, distribution is split between policy owners and the shareholders in the rations 90:10 or 80:20 dependent
on bonus series.
Conventional

Investment Account

Ordinary

0.00% (2020: 0.00%)

Superannuation

7.33% (2020: 6.02%)

Ordinary
Superannuation

4.87% p.a (2020: 4.05% p.a.)
4.70% p.a. (2020: 3.70% p.a.)
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(b) Life Insurance (continued)
(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued)
f. Voluntary discontinuances and premium dormancy
ZAL:
Discontinuance assumptions were set having regard to analysis of recent experience within ZAL of voluntary
discontinuances and premium dormancy.
Voluntary discontinuance assumptions, which vary by age, duration and product, are in the range of 1.0% p.a. to
66.4% p.a. (2020: 1% p.a. to 56.0% p.a.).
Dormancy assumptions is 8% p.a. flat for all investment products with annual premium (2020: 4.0% p.a. to 13.0%
p.a.).
OPL:
Voluntary discontinuance rates are based on recent company analysis and vary by product and duration inforce. For
the major classes of business the assumed rates of discontinuance are:
Conventional/ Participating Investment Account
Lump sum risk/ Disability income

2% to 10% (2020: 2% to 10%)
2% to 68% (2020: 1% to 68%)

g. Sum insured reductions
For ZAL, which varies between lump sum and disability products and between advisor and direct business, is in
the range of 0.15% p.a. to 6.5% p.a (2020: 0.15% to 7.0%) reduction in sum insured.
For OPL, this assumption has been included as part of the voluntary discontinuance assumption.
h. Surrender values
Future surrender values have been calculated assuming that the approach used at the valuation date remains in
place.
i. Unit prices
A fair value approach has been used to determine policy liabilities for unit-linked Life Investment contract business
and no assumptions are needed about rates of growth of unit prices.
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(b) Life Insurance (continued)
(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued)
j. Mortality
For ZAL, the mortality assumption is based on the FSC-KPMG 04-08 rates, after adjusting for the Company’s
business mix, and adjusted for Zurich’s own experience. Note the FSC-KPMG 04-08 tables reflect Australian
insured lives experience between 2004 and 2008. The factor applied to the adjusted rates ranged from 80% to
120%, depending on the product type. The assumption is set based on an internal analysis of recent mortality
experience. Assumed rates also vary by age, sex, smoker status, and sum assured.
For OPL, the assumed rates vary by product from 37% to 315% (2020: 43% to 329%) of FSC-IAA 2004-2008
insured lives mortality table, jointly published by the Financial Services Council and the Institute of Actuaries of
Australia for Retail and Direct Sold products, disaggregated by smoker status and adjusted to allow for the effects
of initial selection, company experience and other relevant factors.
k. Lifetime annuity products
For ZAL, the mortality assumption for lifetime annuities is 100% IM80 / IF80 adjusting for mortality
improvements (2020: 100%).
For OPL lifetime annuities, mortality rates vary between 90% to 100% (2020: 90% to 100%) of IA90-92 insured
lives mortality and ALT1990-02 Australian population mortality depending on the age of the annuitant, with an
additional allowance for mortality improvements before and after the valuation date. Variable annuities use an
adjusted ALT2000-2002 table, with further age-based adjustment.
l. Disability
ZAL:
The morbidity assumptions are based on the FSC-KPMG ADI14-18 tables, adjusted for Zurich’s own experience.
The FSC-KPMG ADI07-11 tables reflect Australian insured lives experience between 2007 and 2011.
OPL:
Disability rates vary by gender, age, smoking status, occupation and other relevant factors. Rates of incidence and
termination have been based on the Company's experience and are similar to, on average:
Incidence (Retail Only)
Termination (Retail and GSC)

34% to 206% of ADI 07-11 table (2020: 34% to
229%)
53% to 442% of ADI 07-11 table (2020: 40% to
435%)

For Direct Marketing TPD and Trauma series, incidence rates vary from 90% to 165% (2020: 90% to 165%) of
FSC-IAA 2004-2008 TPD rates. For the open Direct Life Income Protection products, incidence rates vary from
85% to 130% (2020: 85% to 130%) of KPMG FSC Table 2007-2011. Termination rates are the same as Retail
termination rates stated above.
m. Trauma and TPD incidence
ZAL:
The underlying reference table for trauma and TPD incidence is based on the FSC-KPMG 04-08 rates. A
percentage assumption is then applied to this table. The assumption is set having regard to an internal analysis of
recent experience within ZAL.
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(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued)
n.

Trauma and TPD incidence (continued)
OPL:
The assumed claim rates for lump sum TPD benefits vary by product from 51% to 602% (2020: 48% to 839%) of
FSC-AI 2004-2008 Tables adjusted to allow for OnePath experience, effects of initial selection and other relevant
factors.
The assumed claim rates for lump sum Trauma benefits vary by product from 94% to 162% (2020: 90% to 156%)
of FSC-AI 2004-2008 Tables adjusted to allow for OnePath experience, effects of initial selection and other
relevant factors.

o.

Taxation and commission
The taxation basis and commission scale assumed are those applying to each class of business as at the valuation
date. A tax rate of 15% for the Virtual Pooled Superannuation Trust (VPST), 0% for the Segregated Exempt Asset
Pool (SEAP), and 30% for all other business has been assumed.

p.

Impact of COVID 19
To reflect the additional expected claims cost associated with the COVID 19 Pandemic, an allowance has been
made for the policy liabilities for all individual lump sum and disability income products. Such claims are expected
to emerge from 2020 until 2023 and take into account economic factors such as forecast unemployment.

(iii) Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions - ZAL
Assumption category
ZAL

Mortality / morbidity
Discontinuance rates
Maintenance expenses
Other assumptions

Effect of changes
on profit margins
$000
increase /
(decrease)
(111.6)
45.3
134.7
(27.2)

1

Effect of changes
on policy liability
$000
increase /
(decrease)1
31.7
0.7
(30.1)
0.7

The above policy liability movements relate to the Superannuation Disability Income business, as it is
in loss recognition.
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(b) Life Insurance (continued)
(iv) Sensitivity analysis
ZAL and OPL conduct sensitivity analysis to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying
variables such as interest rate, equity prices, mortality, morbidity, discontinuance rates and inflation. The
valuations included in the reported results and ZAL and OPL’s best estimates of future performance are calculated
using certain assumptions about these variables. The movement in any key variable will impact the performance
and net assets of ZAL and OPL and as such represents a risk.
The table below illustrates how changes in the key assumptions and assumed experience would impact the profit
and equity of the Company for the current year.
ZAL:
Gross of reinsurance
Percentage
change in
variable

Profit/(loss)
Life Insurance
and equity contract liability
$000
$000

Net of reinsurance
Life
Insurance
Profit/(loss)
contract
and equity
liability
$000
$000

Impact of change in variable
December 2021 assumption
Worsening of mortality
Worsening of morbidity
Increase of discontinuance rate
Increase in interest rates
Decrease in interest rates
Increase in equity prices
Decrease in equity prices

10%
10%
10%
1%
(1%)
10%
(10%)

(144.8)
(21.0)
14.8
(37.8)
3.8
(3.8)

0.1
206.8
30.0
(128.9)
161.8
2.7
(2.7)

(33.3)
(7.3)
(11.7)
0.6
3.8
(3.8)

0.1
47.6
10.5
(50.1)
65.9
2.7
(2.7)

December 2020 assumption
Worsening of mortality
Worsening of morbidity
Increase of discontinuance rate
Increase in interest rates
Decrease in interest rates
Increase in equity prices
Decrease in equity prices

10%
10%
10%
1%
(1%)
10%
(10%)

(0.1)
(143.2)
(23.7)
39.9
(65.3)
2.9
(2.9)

0.1
204.5
33.9
(134.5)
170.7
2.7
(2.7)

(0.1)
(31.6)
(7.5)
(0.1)
(12.2)
2.9
(2.9)

0.1
45.1
10.8
(51.4)
68.9
2.7
(2.7)
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OPL:
Gross of reinsurance
Percentage
change in
variable

Profit/(loss)
Life Insurance
and equity contract liability
$000
$000

Net of reinsurance
Life
Insurance
Profit/(loss)
contract
and equity
liability
$000
$000

Impact of change in variable
December 2021 assumption
Worsening of mortality
Worsening of morbidity
Increase of discontinuance rate
Increase in interest rates
Decrease in interest rates

10%
10%
10%
1%
(1%)

6.0
429.0
(28.0)
164.0
(192.0)

(9.0)
(614.0)
40.0
(262.0)
274.0

3.0
228.0
(37.0)
93.0
(104.0)

(5.0)
(326.0)
53.0
(132.0)
150.0

December 2020 assumption
Worsening of mortality
Worsening of morbidity
Increase of discontinuance rate
Increase in interest rates
Decrease in interest rates

10%
10%
10%
1%
(1%)

6.0
369.0
(8.0)
184.0
(195.0)

(9.0)
(527.0)
12.0
(262.0)
279.0

4.0
251.0
(46.0)
98.0
(91.0)

(5.0)
(359.0)
65.0
(141.0)
130.0

Policy liabilities include a component for profits that are expected to be earned over the life of the contract.
These profits are released over the life of the contract according to an appropriate profit carrier. Policy liabilities
are recalculated for changes in economic assumptions (with the exception of participating products). However,
when the non-economic assumptions are changed and the expected future profit is recalculated, the impact is
absorbed into future profit margins such that there is no change to the total level of policy liabilities. The only
exception to this is where the business is expected to make future losses. In this case all future losses must be
recognised immediately and hence there will be a change in the policy liability.
For ZAL, the impact on reported profit and shareholder equity of changes in interest rates and equity prices
include impact on all financial assets (except those backing investment linked contracts) as well as impact on life
insurance contracts liability. Changes in interest rates impact the discount rate used to calculate life insurance
contracts liability. The sensitivities presented in the analysis show the impact of changes to assumptions on the
year’s profit if the assumption change is made (and policy liabilities recalculated as described above). The
Profit/(Loss) and equity column shows both the cashflow and liability impacts, whereas the life insurance
contract liability column shows only the liability impact.
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(iv) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
For investment linked contracts, the policyholder bears the risks and rewards of the underlying financial assets.
The impact of changes in interest rates and equity prices on these financial assets affects policyholder returns and
has no direct impact on ZAL and OPL’s reported profit for the current year. This does not apply to policies that
contain an investment return guarantee. For these, the value of the guarantee is impacted by changes in interest
rates and equity prices and hence ZAL and OPL’s reported profit.
(v)

Capital adequacy requirements

These are amounts required to meet the prudential standards specified by the Life Act to provide protection against
the impact of fluctuations and unexpected adverse circumstances on ZAL and OPL.
The methodology and bases for determining capital adequacy requirements as at 31 December 2021 are in
accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard LPS 110 “Capital Adequacy” in accordance with subsection
230A(1) of the Life Act.
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4. Management of risk
The Consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that could potentially impact the financial
standing of the Company. This note and Note 5 – financial risk management, provide an overview of the processes
and considerations undertaken in managing these risks.
Section a) below reviews the risk management framework employed so that the management of risk is complete,
effective and aligned to the strategic intent of the Company.
The various categories of risk that may impact the financial standing of the company are outlined as follows:
Sections b) reviews the insurance risk; section c) reviews the operational risks, including the specific controls in
place to manage the risk of financial misstatement; and Note 5 separately details the financial risk management
policies and procedures in place.
(a) Risk management framework
The Consolidated entity’s overall risk management framework seeks to manage risks within the board’s risk
appetite. This includes a focus on potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Consolidated entity,
in particular capital and solvency.
The risk management framework comprises the totality of systems, structures, policies, processes and people within
the Consolidated entity that identify, measure, evaluate, monitor, report and control or mitigate all internal and
external sources of material risk. The key components of the risk management framework are:
 The business plan – which is developed within the Board’s risk appetite and having regard for the risk
management strategy of the Consolidated entity. Capital adequacy implications are taken into account in the
business planning process.
 The Risk Management Strategy (RMS) – which describes the Consolidated entity’s strategy for managing risk
and the key elements of the risk management framework that give effect to the strategy.
 The board’s risk appetite statements – which sets out the board’s appetite for risk taking in the pursuit of its
strategic objectives, giving consideration to the interests of policyholders.
 The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process – which comprises the processes and procedures for
assessing the risks arising from the Company’s activities such that capital held is commensurate with the level
of risk; and it also sets out the strategy for maintaining adequate capital over time, including the setting of capital
targets consistent with the risk profile of the Company, the board’s risk appetite and regulatory capital
requirements.
The objective of the RMS is to describe and formalise the Consolidated entity’s approach to the management of risk
by setting out:


clear roles and responsibilities for the management of risk;



an overview of integrated systems, policies and processes that support effective risk management;



the risk types that impact the Consolidated entity and its approach to managing those risks;



the methodology by which each entity within the Consolidated entity identifies, assesses and manages its risks
in accordance with its risk appetite;




the mechanisms by which each entity within the Consolidated entity identifies and manages new and
emerging risks; and
reporting requirements for monitoring risks and the process for escalation where required.
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4. Management of risk (continued)
(a)

Risk management framework (continued)
ZFSA has Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Processes (ICAAPs) that address the potential impact of all
risk to capital and solvency. The authority to take risk is clearly delegated through the board’s risk appetite
statement. Subject matter experts are responsible for the management of each category of risk, including the
impact of that risk on capital adequacy. Each category of risk has its own governance stream to leverage that
expertise.
The broadest categorisation of risks:
 Insurance risk
 Strategic risk
 Operational risk
 Financial risk, subcategorised as:
 Market risk;
 Credit risk;
 Liquidity risk.
With the exception of strategic risk, these categories are discussed in the following sections, with financial
risks separately discussed within Note 5. Strategic risk is the risk to profitable market share over a longer time
horizon, and is not directly applicable to annual financial statements.
The key risks within the business are considered by the internal audit department, resulting in an annual audit
plan which is approved by the Risk, Compliance and Audit Committee (RCAC). The internal audit department
is independent of the day to day operational management of the Company. The internal audit department
executes a review of components of the internal control systems in accordance with the annual audit plan to
assess the effectiveness of the internal controls, risk management within the Consolidated entity and
compliance with the RMS.
The board requires that an active risk and governance culture development program is in place. This includes
communication, promotion and engagement activities as well as training for new starters, training for
managers, development of additional tools and executive sponsorship (including modelling of behaviours by
Executives and setting the appropriate ‘tone from the top’).
The board requires that the remuneration structures in place across the organisation are appropriate, promote a
strong risk culture and do not incentivise unethical or inappropriate behaviours. To align staff conduct with a
strong risk culture, all staff are required to include in their personal performance objectives a requirement to
demonstrate a strong risk culture through appropriate behavioural attributes.
Behavioural metrics are monitored and reported to the executive teams and the RCAC every six months to
track progress and identify areas for improvement. Risk management behaviours are explicitly included in all
employees’ performance objectives. The boards expect that the risk culture initiatives are evaluated and
improved over time.
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4. Management of risk (continued)
(b) Insurance risk
General Insurance
(i) Objectives in managing risks arising from insurance contracts and policies for mitigating those risks
ZAIL and OPGI have an objective to manage insurance risk thus reducing the volatility of operating profits. In
addition to the inherent uncertainty of insurance risk, which can lead to significant variability in the loss
experience, profits from insurance business are affected by market factors, particularly competition and
movements in asset values. Short-term variability is, to some extent, a feature of insurance business. Various
procedures are put in place to control and mitigate the risks faced by ZAIL and OPGI depending on the nature
of each risk. ZFSA’s general insurance risks are monitored by the Chief Risk Officer and communicated
regularly to the boards via the quarterly risk reports. The Appointed Actuaries of ZAIL and OPGI also monitor
the exposure and reports to the Boards in the annual Financial Condition Reports.
In accordance with Prudential Standards CPS 220 Risk Management and GPS 230 Reinsurance Arrangements,
issued by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), the Board and senior management of ZFSA
have developed, implemented and maintained a Risk Management Strategy (RMS), and a Reinsurance
Management Strategy (REMS).
The RMS and ZFSA REMS have been approved by the Board. Key aspects of the processes implemented to
manage risks arising from insurance contracts include:
 A formal annual risk profiling assessment that focuses on key risks that impact the achievement of strategic
and business objectives, including the development of action plans for the management and continuous
monitoring of identified risks. This is bolstered by formal quarterly reviews of risk issues and progress
against action plans;
 The maintenance and use of appropriate management information systems, which provide up to date,
reliable data on the risks to which the business is exposed at any point in time;
 Actuarial models, using information from the management information systems, are used in calculating
premiums and monitoring claims patterns. Past experience and actuarial methods are used as part of the
process;
 Formally delegated authorities and documented guidelines are followed for underwriting and accepting
insurance risks;
 Natural disasters exposure is monitored through use of models involving the collation of ZAIL’s own
exposure and wider environmental data, which support decisions on limiting exposure;
 Reinsurance is used to limit exposure to large single claims and catastrophes. When selecting a reinsurer
consideration is normally only given to companies on a list approved by Zurich Group head office, which
assesses reinsurer security using rating information from the public domain or gathered through internal
investigations. If ZAIL selects a reinsurer not on the approved list is preferred, a separate approval by
Zurich Group is required before placing the risk;
 In order to limit concentrations of credit risk in purchasing reinsurance, management has regard to existing
reinsurance assets including the level of exposure to any single reinsurer or group of related reinsurers.
Placing reinsurance with other companies in the Zurich group globally is used as an initial step on a
significant portion of the reinsurance program to enable group-wide reinsurance purchasing efficiencies;
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4. Management of risk (continued)
(b) Insurance risk (continued)
General Insurance (continued)
(i)
Objectives in managing risks arising from insurance contracts and policies for mitigating those risks
(continued)
 The mix of assets in which management invests is driven by the nature and term of the insurance liabilities.
The management of assets and liabilities is closely monitored to broadly align the sensitivity of asset values
to changes in interest rates with the equivalent sensitivity of the expected pattern of claim payments; and
 The diversification of business over various classes of insurance and large numbers of uncorrelated
individual risks reduces variability in loss experience.
(ii) Terms and conditions of insurance business
The terms and conditions attaching to insurance contracts affect the level of insurance risk accepted by ZAIL
and OPGI. The majority of direct insurance contracts written are entered into on a standard form basis.
Standard form contracts are formally approved through a full due diligence process. Any non-standard terms
and conditions are signed off by appropriately experienced underwriters within a framework, which includes
delegated authorities from the Chief Underwriting Officer.
(iii) Concentration of insurance risk
ZAIL’s exposures to concentration of general insurance risk are mitigated by a portfolio of diversified
individual risks. The main exposure is to natural catastrophe and arises from ZAIL’s underwriting. Specific
processes for monitoring identified key concentrations are set out below.
Risk
Natural
catastrophes

Source of concentration
Properties and motor vehicles
concentrated in regions that are
subject to:
 Earthquakes;
 Cyclones;
 Hail storms; and
 Other significant natural
events.
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Risk management measures
ZAIL underwriting strategy requires individual
risk premiums to be differentiated in order to
reflect the higher loss frequency in particular
geographical areas.
ZAIL has modelled aggregated risk using
catastrophe models.
Based on the probable maximum loss of a 1 in
250 years event per the models, ZAIL purchases
catastrophe reinsurance cover to limit exposure
to any single event.
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4. Management of risk (continued)
(b) Insurance risk (continued)
General Insurance (continued
(iii) Concentration of insurance risk (continued)
ZAIL and OPGI’s exposures to concentration of general insurance risk are mitigated through diverse product lines.
ZAIL’s direct premium revenue by product line as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income is in the
table below:

Property
Motor
Marine & aviation
Public & product liability
Employers’ liability
Professional indemnity
Travel
Other
Total direct premium revenue

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

315,280
355,589
71,698
134,204
58,387
92,545
64,677
104,431
1,196,811

342,804
346,354
44,395
126,311
53,398
90,227
145,991
89,303
1,238,783

(iv) Development of claims
There is a possibility that changes may occur in the estimate of the general insurance obligations up until the
time they are settled. The tables in Note 22 (d) show estimates of total claims outstanding for each accident year
at successive year ends for classes of business that are typically resolved in more than one year.
(v) Impact of investment returns on pricing
The value of an insurance contract to the company is in part driven by the investment returns achievable on
premium paid. Typically this is estimated by the risk-free interest rate currently available in the market. Prior to
business being written, the risk is managed by regularly repricing product as interest rates materially change.
Insurance and reinsurance contracts are generally entered into annually. At the time of entering into the contract
all terms and conditions are negotiable or, in the case of renewals, renegotiable.
Life Insurance
(i) Life insurance contracts - risk management objectives and policies
ZAL and OPL’s objectives with regard to life insurance risk are to satisfactorily manage the risk in line with the
RMS which is approved by the board. Various procedures are put in place to control and mitigate the risks faced
by ZAL and OPL depending on the nature of each risk, and in particular the severity and probability of each risk.
ZAL and OPL’s exposures to risks are monitored by the Chief Risk Officer and communicated regularly to the
board via the quarterly risk report. The Appointed Actuaries also monitor these exposures and report to the
respective boards in the annual Financial Condition Report.
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4. Management of risk (continued)
(b) Insurance risk (continued)
Life Insurance (continued)
(i) Life insurance contracts - risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Insurance risks are controlled through the use of underwriting procedures, adequate premium rates and policy
charges, the ability to change premium rates for yearly renewable business and extensive reinsurance
arrangements. Controls are also maintained over claims management practices to ensure the correct and timely
payment of insurance claims. Insurance risks are monitored by internal management committees which report
regularly to the board.
(ii) Strategy for managing life insurance risk
Portfolio of risks
ZAL and OPL currently issue term life, total and permanent disablement, trauma and disability income
insurance contracts. In addition OPL issues master trust, group life and group salary continuance contracts.
There is also exposure to savings, bonds, annuities, endowments and whole of life contracts each of which are
no longer written. The performance of ZAL and OPL and their continuing ability to write profitable business
depends on their ability to identify and control risks. ZAL and OPL have adopted the Consolidated entity’s
RMS which has been approved by the board. It summarises the approach to risk and risk management.
Risk strategy
In compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements, a strategy is in place to ensure that the risks
underwritten satisfy shareholders risk and reward objectives whilst not adversely affecting the ability to pay
benefits and claims when due. The strategy involves the identification of risks by type, impact and likelihood,
the implementation of processes and controls to mitigate the risks, and continuous monitoring and
improvement of the procedures in place to reduce the chance of an adverse compliance or operational risk
event occurring. Included in this strategy is the process for underwriting and product pricing to ensure
products are appropriately priced. Capital requirements are measured using the various regulatory reporting
requirements to which ZAL and OPL are subject.
Allocation of capital
Capital is allocated by ZAL and OPL to the portfolios of contracts or is held in a central reserve based on
management’s assessment of the risks to which each line of business is exposed and its view of the
profitability of the products that are sold.
Solvency and capital adequacy requirements established by APRA are in place to reinforce safeguards for
policyholders’ interests, which are primarily the ability to meet future claims payments to policyholders and
to meet policyholders’ reasonable expectations. The APRA compliance requirements must be met
continuously throughout the year. These solvency and capital adequacy requirements also take into account
specific risks faced by ZAL and OPL.
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(b) Insurance risk (continued)
Life Insurance (continued)
(iii) Methods to monitor and assess life insurance risk exposures
Exposure to risk
In an effort to protect and enhance shareholder value, ZAL and OPL manage their exposure to risks so that
they can react in a timely manner to changes in financial markets, insurance cycles, and economic and
political environments.
(iv) Methods to limit or transfer life insurance risk exposures
Statutory capital adequacy requirements
ZAL and OPL’s insurance operations are subject to APRA’s regulatory capital requirements which prescribe
the minimum amount of capital to be held depending on the risks associated with the products issued and the
type, quality and concentration of investments held. The APRA requirements must be met continuously
throughout the year. ZAL and OPL each aim to hold a target surplus above the prudential capital
requirements.
Management reporting
ZAL and OPL report monthly financial and operational results to management.
Reinsurance
Reinsurance is used to limit exposure to large single claims and reduce the volatility of expected profits. New
reinsurance treaties are assessed to indicate how they will impact the level and volatility of expected profits
as well as the impact on ZAL and/or OPL’s capital position to ensure the achievement of the appropriate
choice of type of reinsurance and retention levels.
Underwriting procedures
Strategic underwriting decisions are put into effect using the underwriting procedures detailed in the
underwriting manuals of ZAL and OPL. Such procedures include limits to delegated authorities and signing
powers. The underwriting process is regularly monitored by the internal auditors to ensure adequate controls
are in place over the underwriting process and that the controls are effective.
Claims management
Strict claims management procedures ensure the timely and appropriate payment of claims in a consistent and
effective manner in accordance with policy conditions.
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4. Management of risk (continued)
(b) Insurance risk (continued)
Life Insurance (continued)
(v) Concentration of life insurance risk
Insurance risks associated with human life events
ZAL:
ZAL predominantly writes individual risk business through independent financial advisors. Following the
closure to new business of ZAL’s group risk portfolio in 2014, ZAL has been managing run-off book of
business. With group risk business, protection against death or disablement is typically provided to
employers of large work forces where concentration risks may emerge.
ZAL has established a catastrophe reinsurance treaty with its ultimate controlling entity to reduce the risk of
high number of deaths caused by a single event; for example a natural disaster or a building collapse. The
nature of ZAL’s overall business mix results in a large spread of risks across the country and age ranges,
further mitigating concentration risk.
OPL:
Through its group business, OPL has exposure to a number of corporates with large workforces in one
location. This gives rise to a concentration of risk, and this is considered when determining capital
requirements. OPL has established a catastrophe and pandemic reinsurance treaty that limits the risk from
low probability, high impact events.
(c) Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of loss or the risk of not achieving business objectives resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people, systems or from external events such as catastrophes, legislation, external
fraud, or losses related to outsourcing.
The Consolidated entity has a comprehensive framework with a common approach to identify, assess,
control, monitor and report operational risk.
Generally, all business activities contain some aspect of operational risk. Therefore, ongoing initiatives and
controls to manage operational risk are in place. All functional business areas within the Consolidated entity
undertake a risk assessment to identify, assess, manage and monitor operational risk. Risk registers are
developed and recorded in a central database for each functional business area, including identifying control
owners and action plans for improvement of controls. These risk registers are regularly reviewed, updated and
improved. Some functions are also subject to operational key controls which sets a minimum framework of
operational controls. Risk management facilitates the review of the risk registers on a risk-based approach with
a full review of each register at least once every three years. Projects with an expected budget over a defined
threshold also undergo a risk assessment.
A key control for operational risk is maintaining and developing capability of the Company’s business
continuity and disaster recovery to plan for the event of a major business disruption.
The Company considers controls to be key instruments for monitoring and managing operational risk. The
Branches continue to strengthen the robustness, consistency, documentation and assessment of internal controls
for business processes. Operational effectiveness of key controls is assessed by self-assessment and independent
testing on relevant controls supporting the financial statements.
An operational risk of particular relevance to this report is the risk of misstatement of financial statements.
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5. Financial risk management
Financial risks are a broad category of risks, typically found in financial instruments, but impacting other items on the
balance sheet. They are typically divided into market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Financial risks are generally monitored and controlled by selecting appropriate assets to back policy liabilities. The
assets are regularly monitored by the Capital and Investment Management Committee (CIMC) to provide comfort that
there is no material asset and liability mismatching issues and other risks such as liquidity risk and credit risk are
maintained within acceptable limits. For those life insurance contracts and life investment contracts where the benefits
paid are directly impacted by the value of the underlying assets, ZAL is exposed to the risk of future decreased asset
management fees as a result of a decline in assets under management.
(a)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of diminution in value of the Consolidated entity’s investment portfolio arising from adverse
movements in the levels and volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The risk is controlled
by transacting all activities in accordance with approved mandates, strategies and limits. Market risk analysis is
conducted on a regular basis and risk management controls provide comfort that positions are monitored against the
portfolio risk limits. Market risk analysis is conducted on a total portfolio basis, including the effect of market
movements on the valuation of insurance liabilities, and other balance sheet items, as well as the explicit impact on
investments.
Refer to Note 3 (a)(ii) and 3 (b)(iv) for an analysis of the impact of changes in key assumptions on reported profit and
equity of the Consolidated entity. The analysis includes the impact of changes on financial assets.
Asset and liability management techniques
A key aspect of market risk is to manage asset and liability mismatching issues. Asset and liability mismatching risk is
the potential for unfavourable changes in the values of assets compared to liabilities that could adversely affect
available financial resources due to movements in market factors such as interest rates, equity prices or foreign
exchange rates.
The management of investments consists of analysis of market value and changes with respect of previous month and
quarter; analysis of exposure and asset allocation; analysis of tail risk (to an expected shortfall of 99%); analysis of
sensitivities (duration, convexity and volatility); stress testing (monetary impact on assets and liabilities of various
interest rate, credit spread and equity index shocks); and analysis of credit exposures by rating, industry and seniority
and portfolio concentration (all credit-sensitive assets are investment grade, above BB+).
The management of market risk, including asset and liability management, is overseen by the Capital and Investment
Management Committee (CIMC). The Ultimate Controlling Entity, Zurich Insurance Group Ltd’s Zurich Risk Policy
(ZRP) provides constraints on the mix of investment assets.
On-balance sheet
The aggregate carrying value of financial assets and liabilities approximate their net fair values. The methods used to
determine the carrying values of financial assets and liabilities are included in Note 1.
Off-balance sheet
The Company has potential financial liabilities which may arise from certain contingencies disclosed in Note 30. No
material losses are anticipated in respect of any of those contingencies, and the net fair value is assessed as an
immaterial amount.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
a) Market risk (continued)
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation. Credit risk is assumed through three main mechanisms.
i)
The assumption of Credit risk through investment strategies relating to financial assets.
ii)
Credit risk created through reinsurance, where a reinsurance asset represents an obligation of the reinsurer to the
entity.
iii) Receivables within the business, where the entity is owed payment or services by a third party. Most typically this is
the receipt of invoiced funds.
The management of credit risk is overseen by the CIMC.
(i) Financial assets
The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the consolidated balance sheets represent the Consolidated entity’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets. Where entities have a right of set-off and intend to settle on a net
basis, this set-off has been reflected in the financial statements in accordance with accounting standards.
Cash and financial assets
Standard and Poor’s (S&P) rating for Cash at bank disclosed in Note 27(b) is:
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited A1+ (2020: A1+)
Westpac Banking Corporation A1+ (2020: A1+)
HSBC Bank Australia Ltd A1 (2020: A1)
Kiwibank Ltd A1 (2020: A1)
The debt securities disclosed in Note 12 are analysed in the table below using Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s (S&P) ratings.
The disclosures below are not based on a “look-through” basis, however the disclosures as per the Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss line item in the Consolidated balance sheet, and as per Note 12, are based on a “look-through” basis.
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5.

Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
2021
$’000

2020
$’000
*Restated

General Insurance debt securities
AAA
AA
A
BBB
Total debt securities

281,835
440,104
323,901
318,597
1,364,437

281,390
525,772
229,288
221,173
1,257,623

Current debt securities
Non-current debt securities
Total debt securities

241,485
1,122,952
1,364,437

282,219
975,404
1,257,623

77,176
39,560
116,736

72,456
72,456

Life Insurance debt securities
AAA
AA
A
BBB
Total debt securities

1,448,710
894,271
619,903
343,231
3,306,115

1,322,466
898,894
237,048
55,152
2,513,560

Current debt securities
Non-current debt securities
Total debt securities

460,715
2,845,400
3,306,115

332,780
2,180,780
2,513,560

177,000
177,000

1,136,850
1,136,850

Term deposits (AA rated)
Term deposits (A rated)
Total term deposits

Term deposits (AA rated)
Total term deposits
*Restatement in 2020 of $85,206k reduction in General Insurance - Total debt securities.

Reinsurance - ZAL
ZAL’s international pooling arrangement, catastrophe reinsurance arrangement and 50% of reinsurance relating to
new business since 1 January 2018 is reinsured by Zurich Insurance Company Limited, Switzerland (ZIC). The
international pooling arrangement was originally reinsured by Zurich Life Insurance Company Limited, Switzerland
(ZLIC), however the reinsurance was transferred from ZLIC to ZIC with effect from 1 January 2017 under a
Novation Agreement. With the exception of ZIC, all of the ZAL’s reinsurers are regulated by the industry regulator,
APRA, and are governed by the same Prudential Standards as ZAL.
As at 31 December 2021 the S&P credit ratings for all of ZAL’s reinsurers are A or better (2020: A or better).
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5.

Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
Reinsurance - OPL
Reinsurance is placed with highly rated counterparties and management regularly assesses the creditworthiness of its
reinsurers. In addition, the Appointed Actuary provides advice on the suitability of reinsurance arrangements.
Financial assets and liabilities arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts are stated in the balance sheet at the
amount that best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at balance date.
Reinsurance - ZAIL
The company monitors its credit risk associated with reinsurance assets with Zurich Group companies and other
reinsurers. Placing reinsurance with companies in the Zurich Group is used as an initial step on a significant portion
of the reinsurance program to enable group-wide reinsurance purchasing efficiencies. Reinsurance security is
monitored continuously taking advantage of the Group’s security committee analyses and there are strict controls
around the use of individual reinsurers. Reinsurance accumulations are also monitored closely and used in deciding
the appropriate placement programme at renewal.
Reinsurance – OPGI
To limit the risk, OPGI has in prior years purchased reinsurance with highly graded reinsurance organisations. This
reinsurance continues to provide some protection to prior exposure years. Due to the cessation of writing home, car
and travel insurance, OPGI no longer purchases significant levels of reinsurance.
Reinsurance receivable on incurred claims disclosed in Note 13 are analysed in the table below using Standard and
Poors (S&P) ratings.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

AAA or AA
A
BBB or unrated

608,682
161,496
9,230

966,584
61,728
20,515

Total reinsurance receivable on incurred claims (excluding risk margin and
other recoveries)

779,408

1,048,827

Of the total reinsurance receivable on incurred claims:
•
14% (2020: 10%) of the reinsurance and other recoveries receivable in Note 13 had a third party reinsurer as a
counter party; and
•
86% (2020: 90%) of the reinsurance and other recoveries receivable in Note 13 had companies in the Zurich
Group as a counter party.
Irrevocable standby letters of credit for a total of up to $205 million (2020: $172 million) were issued by Australian
banks on behalf of other entities in the Zurich Group in favour of ZAIL. These letters of credit relate to all
reinsurance contracts entered into between ZAIL and other entities in the Zurich Group on or after 31 December
2008. $205 million is valid until amended or cancelled. As at 31 December 2021, $205 million (2020: $172 million)
of reinsurance recoverable due from other entities in the Zurich Group were secured under these letters of credit.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
A collateral trust was established during 2013, by means of a trust deed entered into between the ZAIL, ZIC and
Perpetual Corporate Trust Ltd. The funds of the Trust were contributed by ZIC, to constitute recognised collateral in
respect of aged reinsurance recoverable owed by ZIC to ZAIL. The total collateral in the trust at 31 December 2020
was $456 million (2020: $468 million). The letters of credit and collateral trust total of $661 million (2020: $639m)
covers aged reinsurance recoverables over two balance dates of $613 million (2020: $537 million).

(ii) Business receivables
Premium receivable
General Insurance premiums receivable in ZAIL are disclosed in Note 11, the ageing of which is disclosed below:

2021
$’000
271,351
46,116
7,362
14,707
(2,746)
336,790

Neither past due nor impaired (90 day credit terms)
Amounts past due but not impaired to 30 days
Amounts past due but not impaired 31 - 90 days
Amounts past due but not impaired over 90 days
Provisions for impairment
Total premiums receivable

2020
$’000
266,523
27,611
6,502
18,665
(2,442)
316,859

Outstanding life premiums include non - forfeiture loans provided to policyholders and these are secured by the
surrender value of the related policies.
Other receivables
All other receivables in the Company and the consolidated entity do not include material amounts that are either past
due or impaired.
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5.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions.
(i) Life Insurance
ZAL's investment contracts are payable on demand. The carrying amount of these investment contracts is $1.074 billion
(2020: $1.060 billion).
(ii) General Insurance
The table shows expected cash flow from outstanding claims (notified claims, IBNR and claims handling costs) and
premium liability (expected future claims). Both are net of reinsurance and non-reinsurance recoveries and before risk
margin.
Carrying
amount
(undiscounted)

Expected cash flows (undiscounted)

2021
Insurance contracts
Outstanding claims (Note 13, 22)
Premium liability
Total

$‘000

0-1 yrs
$‘000

1-5 yrs
$‘000

5-10 yrs
$‘000

10-15 yrs
$‘000

>15yrs
$‘000

896,623
308,907
1,205,530

369,168
133,980
503,148

400,075
151,580
551,655

98,266
21,659
119,925

18,333
1,617
19,950

10,781
70
10,851

Carrying
amount
(undiscounted)

Expected cash flows (undiscounted)

2020
Insurance contracts
Outstanding claims (Note 13, 22)
Premium liability
Total

$‘000

0-1 yrs
$‘000

1-5 yrs
$‘000

5-10 yrs
$‘000

10-15 yrs
$‘000

>15yrs
$‘000

822,592
298,888
1,121,480

333,846
127,073
460,919

375,834
145,107
520,941

88,310
25,089
113,399

15,123
1,570
16,693

9,478
52
9,530

Contractual maturity analysis
The loan and bank guarantees provided by the Company and the Consolidated entity (Note 30) are due on demand.
A contractual maturity analysis is not provided in respect of other financial liabilities in the Company and the
Consolidated entity as typically the credit terms for other financial liabilities are up to 31 days.
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(d) Derivative holdings
A derivative transaction is a contract where value is derived from the value of an underlying asset or index. Derivatives are
typically used to manage financial risks, in particular market risks. Each derivative transaction has potential to generate credit
exposure with the counterparty. A derivative contract may also have a moderate impact on liquidity due to obligations to pay.
These market risks and credit risks are included in the above sections; however it is appropriate to detail the consolidated
entities use of derivatives.
ZAIL and OPGI do not hold any direct derivative contracts.
ZAL and OPL do not generally hold any direct derivative contracts themselves but their policyholders’ investments in unit
trusts have exposures to these instruments. The trusts use derivatives for portfolio management purposes. Derivatives are used
as an effective alternative to physical assets in order to achieve a desired level of total exposure and as a means to hedge against
market movements. Total exposure is the sum of the market value of the physical assets plus the equivalent physical asset
value attributed to the derivatives. Deliberate gearing up or leverage exposure to an asset is not permitted.
The most common derivatives used by the trusts are exchange traded futures contracts and options. Exchange traded futures
and options are used to hedge against adverse market fluctuations in the underlying security. Overseas currency options are
entered into to hedge exposures to adverse movements in the Australian dollar. Forward foreign exchange contracts are entered
into to hedge certain investment exposures denominated in foreign currencies.
Derivatives in the trusts are valued on a mark-to-market value basis such that the trust valuations reflect all unrealised gains
and losses on derivatives.
As at 31 December 2021 the trusts had no significant counterparty exposure to one single entity, other than normal clearing
house exposure associated with dealings through recognised exchanges (2020: nil).
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
(e)

Fair value measurements

The aggregate carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their net fair values. The methods used
to determine the carrying values of financial assets and liabilities are included in the summary of significant accounting policies
in Note 1.
The Company and certain controlled entities have potential financial liabilities which may arise from certain contingencies
disclosed in Note 30. No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of those contingencies, and the net fair value of those
contingencies is assessed as an immaterial amount.
The Group measures and recognises the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis:
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
 Financial assets at fair value through equity; and
 Land and buildings.
Fair value hierarchy
Disclosure is required of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy (consistent with
the hierarchy applied to financial assets and financial liabilities):




quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);
inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly (level 2); and
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes. The following tables present the Consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value. The
table does not include Receivables or Payables, which are considered Level 3 financial instruments, and are carried at cost which
is the best estimate of fair value.
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(e) Fair value measurements (continued)
Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

Unit trusts - equity securities

196,875

1,945,147

-

2,142,022

Debt securities
Term deposits
Investment property
Total investments

293,736
490,611

5,552,895
7,498,042

117,000
117,000

5,552,895
293,736
117,000
8,105,653

153,335
1,209,306

2,649,855
3,895,762
-

-

-

-

89,000

2,803,190
3,895,762
1,209,306
89,000

1,362,641

6,545,617

89,000

At 31 December 2021
Recurring fair value measurement
Financial assets

At 31 December 2020
*Restated
Recurring fair value measurement
Financial assets
Unit trusts – equity securities
Debt securities
Term deposits
Investment property
Total investments

7,997,258

*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
 The use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; and
 Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities.
The carrying amount of trade receivables and payables materially approximate their fair values due to their short term nature
and as such are all considered level 3. The fair value of financial liabilities approximates their carrying amount, as the impact
of discounting is not significant.
There were no movements in or out of level 3 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
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6.

Revenue and other income
2021
$'000

2020
$'000
*Restated

1,206,131
2,334,078
3,594
195,893
3,739,696

1,255,681
2,245,786
3,153
213,233
3,717,853

20,643
697,779
30,206

678,814
744,482
29,657

4,488,324

5,170,806

Other revenue
Management fees

18,370

19,215

Total other revenue

18,370

19,215

4,506,694

5,190,021

226,600
131,735

164,410
135,654

(27,753)

(52,126)

1,752

1,208

332,334

249,146

(c) Other income from operations
Other income

8,401

8,042

Total other income from operations

8,401

8,042

4,847,429

5,447,209

(a) Revenue from operations
Premium and related revenue
Premium revenue - General Insurance
Premium revenue - Life Insurance
Inwards reinsurance revenue
Reinsurance commissions

Reinsurance and other recoveries - General Insurance
Reinsurance and other recoveries - Life Insurance
Fees for management services rendered
Total premiums and related revenue

Total revenue from operations
(b) Investment income
Dividend
Interest
Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss
Other
Total investments income

Total revenue and other income
*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.
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7.

Profit/(loss) from operations
2021
$'000

2020
$'000
*Restated

Life and General Insurance (see below)
Movement in external unitholders’ liabilities

272,816
(3,911)

120,063
(1,991)

Profit from operations before income tax

268,905

118,072

(a) Profit/(loss) from operations

Life and General Insurance
Premium revenue - General Insurance
Premium revenue - Life Insurance
Fees for management services rendered
Outwards reinsurance expense - General Insurance
Outwards reinsurance expense - Life Insurance
Reinsurance commissions
Net premium revenue

1,209,725
2,334,078
30,206
(321,767)
(1,119,682)
195,893
2,328,453

1,258,834
2,245,786
29,657
(306,240)
(1,082,804)
213,233
2,358,466

Claims expense - General Insurance
Claims expense - Life Insurance
Reinsurance and other recoveries - General Insurance
Reinsurance and other recoveries - Life Insurance
Net claims expense

(548,828)
(1,405,407)
20,643
697,779
(1,235,813)

(1,436,361)
(1,397,721)
678,814
744,482
(1,410,786)

Net movement in unexpired risk liability

5,269

(5,269)

(Increase)/decrease in policy liabilities
Increase in gross investment contract liability
(Increase)/decrease in unvested policyholder benefits

149,431
(243,927)
155
(94,341)

55,216
(84,665)
5,641
(23,808)

Acquisition costs
Other underwriting costs
Underwriting expenses

(261,905)
(290,465)
(552,370)

(326,811)
(279,600)
(606,411)

451,198

312,192

332,334
18,370
8,401
(537,487)

249,146
19,215
8,042
(468,532)

272,816

120,063

Underwriting result
Investment income
Other revenue
Other income
Non-underwriting expenses
Profit from operations before income tax and movement in external
unitholders' liabilities
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7.

2021
$'000

Profit/(loss) from operations (continued)

2020
$'000

(b) Net gains and expenses

*Restated

Net (losses)/gains
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains
Total net (losses)/gains

86
86

(710)
(710)

Expenses
Amortisation
Impairment
Depreciation
Bad and doubtful debts recovery (written off)
Provision for employee entitlements
Claims expense
Acquisition expense
Movement in unexpired risk liability
Outwards reinsurance expenses
Other underwriting expense
Policy maintenance
Investment management
Increase in policy liabilities
Other
Total expenses

8,668
(1,018)
(24,053)
(351)
(1,321)
(1,954,235)
(261,905)
5,269
(1,441,449)
(290,465)
(411,314)
(5,630)
(94,341)
(102,468)
(4,574,613)

8,099
(9,577)
(20,711)
127
(2,560)
(2,834,082)
(326,811)
(5,269)
(1,175,811)
(279,600)
(356,860)
(7,023)
(23,808)
(293,260)
(5,327,146)

Movement in policy liabilities includes the change in unvested policyholder benefits and bonuses vested in
policyholders during the financial year.
*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.

65

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
8.

Net claims incurred

Gross claims incurred and related expenses (General Insurance):
- Direct
- Inwards reinsurance
- Discount to present value
Reinsurance and other recoveries (General Insurance):
- Direct
- Inwards reinsurance
- Discount to present value

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

(576,438)
(957)
28,567
(548,828)

(1,387,722)
(28,621)
(20,018)
(1,436,361)

28,774
1,525
(9,656)
20,643

Net incurred claims (General Insurance)

(528,186)
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9.

Income tax

(a) Total operations
(i) Income tax expense
Current tax
Deferred tax
Under / (over) provision in prior years
Total income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense
included in income tax expense comprises:
Decrease in deferred tax assets (Note 14)
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (Note 23)

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

49,111
61,467
(3,739)
106,839

9,434
24,858
1,242
35,534

72,973
(11,506)
61,467

15,098
9,760
24,858

268,905
80,671

118,072
35,422

(ii) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
Profit before tax
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2020 - 30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not
deductible/taxable in calculating taxable income:
Tax offset for franked dividends
Unrealised book gain on investment in controlled entities
Non assessable income
Non deductible expenses
Policyholder tax expense (including under provisions in prior years)
Other
Over provision in prior year
Difference in overseas tax rates
Income tax expense
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(2,323)
148
198
21,793
3,962
104,449
2,390
-

(2,188)
(41)
(318)
731
2,875
(2,190)
34,291
1,242
1

106,839

35,534
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9.

Income tax (continued)

(iii) Temporary differences relating to investment in controlled entities
As there is no intention of the Company to sell the investments in controlled entities, and it is expected that the controlled
entities will remain in the tax consolidated group for the foreseeable future, the reversal of the temporary differences will
have no income tax consequences for the Company. The transactions between a tax consolidated subsidiary and its parent,
including the distribution of dividends from the subsidiary to the parent, are not taken into account for income tax
purposes. Accordingly, the tax balance sheet value of the investment in the controlled entities is equal to its accounting
carrying value and no temporary difference exists.
Similarly, with the investment in 100% owned unit trusts, the Company does not recognise any temporary differences with
respect to its holdings in those trusts. As the 100% owned unit trusts are tax transparent entities, deferred taxes are
recognised by the Company on temporary differences on the investments held in the unit trusts as if the investments are
directly held by the Company.

(b) Tax consolidation
The Company and the members of the tax consolidated group implemented the tax consolidation legislation on 1
October 2003. The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in Note 1(l).

10. Franking credits

Total franking credits available for subsequent reporting periods based on a tax
rate of 30% (2020 - 30%)

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

621,975

616,696

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for
franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax.
11. Receivables
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Current
Premiums receivable (General Insurance)
Outstanding premiums (General Insurance)
Outstanding premiums (Life Insurance)
Investment income receivables
Due from related entities (Note 31 (c))
Other

228,102
108,703
88,067
27,721
17,173
42,897

201,004
116,559
109,013
26,189
3,074
15,323

Total current receivables

512,663

471,162
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12. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2021
$'000

2020
$'000
*Restated

166,949
241,485
29,845
116,736
555,015

129,041
282,219
29,757
72,456
513,473

1,122,952
1,122,952

975,404
975,404

1,677,967

1,488,877

1,945,228
859,240
460,715
177,000
150,000
3,592,183

1,850,860
901,835
332,779
1,136,850
4,222,324

23,103
2,845,400
2,868,503

16,277
2,180,781
2,197,058

Total Life Insurance financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

6,460,686

6,419,382

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

8,138,653

7,908,259

Current
Non-current

4,147,198
3,991,455
8,138,653

4,735,797
3,172,462
7,908,259

(a) Financial assets at fair value through Profit or Loss
(i) General Insurance financial assets
Current
Equity securities
Debt securities
Unit trusts
Term deposits
Non-current
Debt securities

Total General Insurance financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(ii) Life Insurance financial assets
Current
Unit trust - equity securities
Unit trust - debt securities
Debt securities
Term deposits
Other financial assets
Non-current
Unit trust - debt securities
Debt securities

The classification of investments in unit trusts between current and non-current is based on a "look through" analysis
of the liquidity of the underlying assets of the trusts.
*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.
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13. Reinsurance and other recoveries

Analysis of reinsurance and other recoveries
General Insurance
Expected future reinsurance recoveries undiscounted
- on claims paid
- on outstanding claims
Discount to present value
Reinsurance receivable on incurred claims
Expected future other recoveries undiscounted
- on outstanding claims
Discount to present value

Risk Margin
Discount to present value

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivables

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

24,673
767,996
792,669
(13,293)
779,376

53,064
1,001,344
1,054,408
(5,581)
1,048,827

97,739
97,739
(820)
96,919

95,543
95,543
(235)
95,308

143,298
(2,152)
141,146

169,348
(794)
168,554

1,017,441

1,312,689

369,537

339,755

587,352
369,537
956,889

678,641
339,755
1,018,396

430,089

634,048

1,386,978

1,652,444

Life Insurance
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable - Life Insurance
Current
General Insurance
Life Insurance

Non Current
General Insurance
Total reinsurance and other recoveries
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14. Deferred tax asset
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Doubtful debts
Depreciable fixed assets
Accrued expense
Provision - others
Provision for leave
Software amortisation
Provision for DAC write off & unexpired risk liabilities
Indirect claim adjustment
Deferred origination fees
Difference in policy liability between accounting and tax
Tax losses
Deferred tax asset upon acquisition of intangibles
Other
Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provision (Note 23)

2,944
9,625
198,327
12,533
6,165
4,118
12,827
1,164
(695)
69,869
73,072
8,744
(7,477)

(1,894)
3,110
6,250
21,300
12,157
5,946
12,730
1,115
196,559
108,286
85,297
14,598
(4,156)

Net deferred tax asset

391,216

461,298

Opening balance at 1 January
Charged to income statement (Note 9)
Other
Recognised on acquisition
Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provision

461,298
(72,973)
2,666
225

436,643
(15,098)
23
39,908
(178)

Closing balance at 31 December

391,216

461,298

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

The Group only recognises deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses incurred by the New Zealand branch to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised. The Group has undertaken a prima-facie analysis of future taxable profits to determine the likelihood of being
able to recover the unused tax losses over the short term. The Group has concluded that, based on profit history and the
uncertainty of future profits, no deferred tax asset should be recognised. The deferred tax asset that has not been
recognised as at 31 December 2021 is $8.3m (2020: $11.2m).
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15. Deferred acquisition costs

Deferred acquisitions costs as at 1 January
Acquisition costs deferred
Amortisation charged to income
Write down for premium deficiency (Note 21(b))
Deferred acquisitions costs as at 31 December
Current
Non-current

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

49,347
147,400
(122,129)
1,131
75,749

125,813
87,193
(161,719)
(1,940)
49,347

68,378
7,371
75,749

45,803
3,544
49,347

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

31,951
1,595,307
100,535
(244,583)
29,800
37,500
(5,305)
1,545,205

48,559
1,595,307
79,808
(244,583)
29,800
37,500
(59,530)
1,486,861

16. Intangibles

Software development
Goodwill
Software and systems
Value of Business Acquired1
Brand
Distribution agreement2
Less: accumulated amortisation

1
2

VOBA is calculated as the present value of accounting profits after tax, less an allowance for the cost of capital.
This is an acquired 20 year distribution agreement.
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16. Intangibles (continued)

Goodwill
$'000

Software
and
systems
$'000

Value of
Business
Acquired
$'000

Brand
$'000

895 1,513,731
48,267
-

14,105
-

(237,501)
-

29,800
-

-

(8,509)

-

-

603
(7,019)
(8)

16,993
-

-

(1,875)
-

48,559 1,595,307

7,681

(229,017)

29,800

34,531 1,486,861

48,559 1,595,307
49,329
(65,937)
-

7,681
251
96
65,937
(10,544)

(229,017)
21,087

29,800
-

34,531 1,486,861
49,580
96
(1,875)
8,668

31,951 1,595,307

63,421

(207,930)

29,800

32,656 1,545,205

Software
development
$'000
At 1 January 2020
Opening net book amount
Additions
Additions on acquisition of OnePath
Transfer
Amortisation charge
Currency translation difference
Closing net book amount as at 31
December 2020
At 1 January 2021
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Transfer
Amortisation charge (Note 7(b))
Closing net book amount as at 31
December 2021

-

81,576

(603)
-

-
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Distribution
agreement
$'000

Total
$'000

36,406 1,357,436
48,267
73,067
8,099
(8)
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17. Leases
(i)

The Consolidated entity leasing activities and accounting treatment

The Consolidated entity leases various properties, and rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of between 3 to 10 years.
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset that is available for use by the Consolidated entity. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the group’s
incremental borrowing rate.
Right-of-use assets are a lessee’s right to use an asset over the life of a lease. They are measured and recorded in Property, plant
and equipment at cost comprising the following:
- the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; and
- any initial direct costs
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement
date
• amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that option.
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17. Leases (continued)
(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
The Branches balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets1

1

2020
$'000

116,502
116,502

141,277
141,277

16,766
108,724
125,490

17,995
129,925
147,920

Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2021 were nil (2020: $129,401,179).

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

1

2021
$'000

Included in the line item ‘Property, plant and equipment’ in the consolidated balance sheet.

(iii) Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
The Branches statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:
2021
$'000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
16,756
Interest expense (included in finance cost)
1,745
Expenses relating to leases excluded from AASB 16 accounting
6,034
Impairment charge of right-of-use assets
1,018
The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was $16,488,598 (2020: $11,757,430).
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2020
$'000
11,209
736
5,550
9,577
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18. Payables
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

109,899
424,516
46,198
97,873
65,552
84,669
828,707

122,135
412,916
33,300
121,127
42,405
44,231
776,114

Current
Reinsurance creditors1
Policy claims in process of settlement
Commissions payable
Due to related entities
Accruals
Other
Total payables
1

Reinsurance payable is reported gross of reinsurance claims recoverable as not all treaties have net-off rights.

19. Provisions
Current
Employee entitlements
Emergency services levy
Stamp Duty
Remediation provisions
Other

Non current
Employee entitlements
Total provisions
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2021
$'000

2020
$'000

19,533
4,990
19,504
86,954
7,274

20,303
2,614
15,427
119,203
8,191

138,255

165,738

17,563

17,939

155,818

183,677
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19. Provisions (continued)

Movements in provisions (excluding
employee entitlements)
Consolidated - 2020
Current
Carrying amount at start of year
Adjustment on acquisition of entities
Additional provision recognised
Payments / other sacrifices of
economic benefits
Release of provision
Foreign exchange
Carrying amount at end of year
Consolidated - 2021
Current
Carrying amount at start of year
Additional provision recognised
Payments / other sacrifices of
economic benefits
Release of provision
Carrying amount at end of year

Emergency
Services
Remediation
Levy Stamp duty provisions
$'000
$'000
$'000

Other
$'000

Total
$'000

5,300
26,037

16,161
85,575

201,756
11,100
4,047

3,114
45,306

226,331
11,100
160,965

(28,732)
9

(86,309)
-

(72,700)
(25,000)
-

(40,229)
-

(227,970)
(25,000)
9

2,614

15,427

119,203

8,191

145,435

2,614
31,128

15,427
97,666

119,203
423

8,191
43,099

145,435
172,316

(28,752)
-

(93,589)
-

(15,729)
(16,943)

(44,016)
-

(182,086)
(16,943)

4,990

19,504

86,954

7,274

118,722

20. Unearned premium liability
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

667,083
1,272,764
(1,209,787)

834,072
1,091,894
(1,258,883)

Unearned premium liability as at 31 December

730,060

667,083

Current
Non-current

672,621
57,439
730,060

608,245
58,838
667,083

Unearned premium liability as at 1 January
Deferral of premiums on contracts written in the period
Earning of premiums written in previous periods
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21. Unexpired risk liability

(a) Unexpired risk liability
Unexpired risk liability as at 1 January
Unexpired risk liability as at 31 December

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

5,269
(5,269)

5,269

-

5,269

5,269
1,131

(5,269)
(1,940)

6,400

(7,209)

(b) Deficiency recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income
Gross movement in unexpired risk liability
Write down of deferred acquisition costs (Note 15)

(c) Liability adequacy test
The liability adequacy test (LAT) has been conducted using the central estimate of the premium liabilities for
reporting to APRA.
The LAT is conducted at a level of portfolio of contracts that are subject to broadly similar risks. The LAT test is
performed at four segment levels being Australia short-tail and long-tail classes, and New Zealand short-tail and
long-tail classes.
The process for determining the overall risk margin, including the way in which diversification of risks has been
allowed for is discussed in Note 22. As with outstanding claims, the overall risk margin is intended to achieve an
85% probability of adequacy in 2021 (2020: 85%).
The LAT performed at reporting date for ZAIL resulted in a deficiency of $13.7 million (2020: $20.1 million).
The below tables show the ZAIL LAT deficiency of the Australia long-tail and New Zealand long-tail segments.
The LAT performed at reporting date for OPGI resulted in a surplus of $1.0m (2020: $2.5m).
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21. Unexpired risk liability (continued)
(c) Liability adequacy test (continued)
2021

Gross unearned premium liability
Reinsurance unearned premium liability
Net unearned premium liability

Australia New Zealand
long-tail
long-tail
$'000
$'000
190,481
(44,424)
146,057
-

Total
$'000
190,481
(44,424)
146,057

Gross deferred acquisition costs
Reinsurance deferred acquisition costs

(24,494)
5,598

-

(24,494)
5,598

Net deferred acquisition costs before LAT write
down

(18,896)

-

(18,896)

Net premiums liability

127,161

-

127,161

Discounted central estimate
Discounted risk margin

115,996
24,891

-

115,996
24,891

Expected present value of future cash flows arising
from future claims on insurance contracts including
risk margin

140,887

-

140,887

Total deficiency

(13,726)

-

(13,726)

ZAIL

2020

Gross unearned premium liability
Reinsurance unearned premium liability
Net unearned premium liability

Australia New Zealand
long-tail
long-tail
$'000
$'000
186,999
9,291
(50,131)
(1,624)
136,868
7,667

Total
$'000
196,290
(51,755)
144,535

Gross deferred acquisition costs
Reinsurance deferred acquisition costs

(21,879)
7,328

(1,074)
485

(22,953)
7,813

Net deferred acquisition costs before LAT write
down

(14,551)

(589)

(15,140)

Net premiums liability

122,317

7,078

129,395

Discounted central estimate
Discounted risk margin

115,686
26,451

6,305
1,079

121,991
27,530

Expected present value of future cash flows arising
from future claims on insurance contracts including
risk margin

142,137

7,384

149,521

Total deficiency

(19,820)

(306)

(20,126)

ZAIL
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22. Outstanding claims
(a) Outstanding claims liability
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Central estimate
Discount to present value

1,718,386
(37,503)
1,680,883

1,867,924
(13,977)
1,853,947

Claims handling costs
Discount to present value

42,896
(1,164)
41,732

42,714
(621)
42,093

Risk margin
Discount to present value
Ex-gratia liability

292,923
(7,764)
285,159

325,866
(3,268)
122
322,720

Gross outstanding claims liability

2,007,774

2,218,760

Undiscounted expected future claims payments
Discount to present value
Ex-gratia liability
Liability for outstanding claims

2,054,205
(46,432)
1
2,007,774

2,236,504
(17,866)
122
2,218,760

Current
Non-current

1,019,451
988,323
2,007,774

1,042,384
1,176,376
2,218,760
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22. Outstanding claims (continued)
(b) Risk margin
Process for determining risk margin
The overall risk margin was determined allowing for diversification between the different portfolios and the relative
uncertainty of the outstanding claims estimate for each portfolio. Uncertainty was analysed for each portfolio taking
into account potential uncertainties relating to the actuarial models and assumptions, the quality of the underlying data
used in the models, the general insurance environment, and the impact of legislative reform.
The assumptions regarding uncertainty for each class were applied to the net central estimates, and the results were
aggregated, allowing for diversification in order to arrive at an overall outstanding claims liability which is intended to
have a probability of adequacy in 2021 of 85% for ZAIL and 75% for OPGI (2020: 85% for ZAIL, 75% for OPGI).

Risk margins applied
APRA class

2021

2020

Net Outstanding Net Outstanding
Claims Margin Claims Margin
ZAIL
Short tail
Domestic motor vehicle
Commercial motor vehicle
Houseowners/householders
Travel
Fire and ISR (incl inwards treaty)
Other
Marine & aviation
Other accident
Average short tail

4.3%
5.4%
9.6%
5.7%
17.7%
12.7%
12.5%
10.4%
11.5%

3.5%
5.4%
10.5%
8.8%
19.4%
13.0%
12.8%
12.2%
12.4%

Long tail
Employers' liability
Public & product liability (incl inwards treaty)
Professional indemnity
Average long tail

15.7%
17.6%
21.1%
18.3%

17.1%
18.2%
29.4%
21.7%

Overall

16.6%

19.3%

OPGI
Consumer Credit Insurance
Motor
Householders (incl. Landlords)

13.4%
16.6%
13.2%

10.4%
15.1%
12.0%
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22. Outstanding claims (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of movement in discounted outstanding claim liability

Brought forward

2021
Net
$’000
959,135

2020
Net
$’000
841,792

Impact of change in assumptions
Margin release on prior periods
Other
Change in prior year estimates

(1,495)
(45,450)
(12,023)
(58,968)

85,165
(1,667)
17,665
101,163

Claims incurred on events in current year

591,638

656,202

Incurred claims recognised in the income statement

532,670

757,365

(1,251)

-

Other releases
Exchange rate adjustment

311

Claim payments during the year

(475,859)

Carried forward

1,015,006
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22. Outstanding claims (continued)
(d) Claims development tables
The following tables show the development of gross and net ultimate undiscounted incurred claims for the ten most recent accident years for classes of business that are typically
resolved in more than one year, plus the outstanding claims allowance for short-tail claims. Gross outstanding claims include claims from inwards reinsurance.
(i) Gross incurred
Accident year

End of accident year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Seven years later
Eight years later
Nine years later
Current estimate of incurred
Cumulative payments
Outstanding claims - undiscounted
Discount
Claim handling expense
2008 & prior
Outstanding claims - discounted
Short tail outstanding claims
OPGI gross outstanding claims1
Total gross
1

2012
$'000
393,147
394,685
374,112
351,830
328,221
308,569
283,404
286,237
281,698
279,278
279,278
269,718
9,560
(53)
214

2013
$'000

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2020
$'000

2021
$'000

Total
$'000

426,563
438,049
411,003
364,943
371,132
302,424
300,048
302,857
296,567

443,477
469,570
440,308
407,921
350,220
336,522
364,875
326,536

398,537
391,080
340,821
237,272
220,725
226,457
230,120

341,070
398,089
354,391
356,127
348,261
328,603

228,280
294,421
257,533
324,955
310,515

311,482
296,458
312,723
316,759

234,342
279,560
277,309

255,985
232,122

256,362

296,567
285,001

326,536
301,815

230,120
206,472

328,603
277,400

310,515
173,754

316,759
100,777

277,309
84,911

232,122
37,403

256,362
15,424

2,854,171
1,752,675

136,761
(2,518)
1,152

215,982
(4,483)
4,330

192,398
(5,023)
4,014

194,719
(6,611)
4,734

240,938
(8,448)
5,888

1,101,496
(28,791)
22,366
220,290
1,315,361
685,527
6,886
2,007,774

11,566
(106)
212

24,721
(283)
489

23,648
(391)
445

51,203
(875)
888

OPGI gross undiscounted incurred claims development table data not available. OPGI total gross outstanding claims added to table data.
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22. Outstanding claims (continued)
(d) Claims development tables (continued)
(ii) Net incurred
Accident year

End of accident year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Seven years later
Eight years later
Nine years later
Current estimate of incurred
Cumulative payments
Outstanding claims - undiscounted
Discount
Claim handling expense
2008 & prior
Outstanding claims - discounted
Short tail outstanding claims
OPGI net outstanding claims1
Total net
1

2012
$'000
319,912
308,711
303,197
296,662
286,685
274,753
243,743
247,117
244,689
243,811
243,811
237,261
6,550
(36)
214

2013
$'000
330,730
343,052
330,480
300,923
299,079
235,297
233,925
235,132
233,504
233,504
224,023
9,481
(83)
212

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2020
$'000

2021
$'000

Total
$'000

341,669
343,332
318,741
290,386
209,693
196,105
198,032
198,378

295,759
308,130
270,866
163,271
149,075
158,524
158,225

252,753
265,247
198,067
183,329
186,957
172,716

106,483
108,522
103,056
109,245
103,012

162,046
158,814
167,542
189,058

149,987
196,499
188,471

170,496
159,818

183,778

198,378
182,441

158,225
145,567

172,716
147,264

103,012
79,784

189,058
80,765

188,471
67,581

159,818
35,420

183,778
14,714

1,830,771
1,214,820

108,293
(2,163)
4,330

120,890
(3,089)
4,014

124,398
(3,924)
4,734

169,064
(5,950)
5,888

615,951
(16,475)
22,366
138,380
760,222
248,227
6,557
1,015,006

15,937
(155)
489

12,658
(175)
445

25,452
(420)
888

23,228
(480)
1,152

OPGI net undiscounted incurred claims development table data not available. OPGI total net outstanding claims added to table data.
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23. Deferred tax liability
Consolidated
2021
$'000
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Unrealised gain on investments
Deferred origination costs
Value of business acquired
Provisions for DAC write off and unexpired risk liability
1 Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provision (Note 14)
Net deferred tax liability
Deferred tax liability movements:
1 Opening balance at 1 January
Charged to income statement (Note 9(a))
Recognised on acquisition
Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provision

1 Closing balance at 31 December
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2020
$'000

31,880
306
20,339
21,120
(7,477)

59,313
440
21,852
(4,156)

66,168

77,449

77,449
(11,506)
225

50,781
9,760
17,086
(178)

66,168

77,449
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24. Policy liabilities
a) Increase/(Decrease) in Net Policy Liabilities
Total
Insurance Contracts

Gross policy liabilities
Reinsured policy liabilities - Gross policy liabilities ceded1
Net policy liabilities
Net increase/(decrease) in policy liabilities recognised in SOCI
Purchase price adjustment
Plus deposits recognised as an increase in policy liabilities
Less non-premium related fees
Less withdrawals recognised as a reduction in policy liabilities
Net increase/(decrease) in policy liabilities
Summary of the movements in gross policy liabilities
Opening balance
Net (decrease)/increase in gross policy liabilities
Closing balance – Gross Policy Liabilities
Summary of the movements in reinsurance policy liabilities
Opening balance
Net (increase)/decrease in reinsurance policy liabilities

Total
Investment Contracts

Total
Statutory Funds

2021
$'000
2,894,897
(973,382)
1,921,515
(149,431)
(149,431)

2020
$'000
2,869,489
(794,347)
2,075,142
(55,216)
90,431
35,215

2021
$'000
2,441,015
(951)
2,440,064
243,927
66,213
(27,191)
(345,309)
(62,360)

2020
$'000
2,504,175
(1,393)
2,502,782
84,665
52,461
(30,379)
(352,102)
(245,355)

2021
$'000
5,335,912
(974,333)
4,361,579
94,496
66,213
(27,191)
(345,309)
(211,791)

2020
$'000
5,373,664
(795,740)
4,577,924
29,449
90,431
52,461
(30,379)
(352,102)
(210,140)

2,865,294
29,604
2,894,898

2,703,415
166,074
2,869,489

2,587,005
(145,990)
2,441,015

2,750,269
(246,094)
2,504,175

5,452,299
(116,386)
5,335,913

5,453,684
(80,020)
5,373,664

(1,753)
801
(952)

(2,492)
739
(1,753)

(796,100)
(178,234)
(974,334)

(665,980)
(130,120)
(796,100)

(794,347)
(179,035)
(973,382)

(663,488)
(130,859)
(794,347)

The net policy liabilities that include policy liabilities subject to capital
guarantees

806,956

819,800

1,544,959

1,558,638

2,351,915

2,378,438

Investment contract liabilities subject to investment performance
guarantees

-

-

270,556

307,133

270,556

307,133

Closing balance – Reinsurance Policy Liabilities

1

Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance amount was current amount of $2,752,000 (2020: $2,631,000) and non-current amount of $971,581,000 (2020:
$793,109,000).
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24. Policy liabilities (continued)
b) Components of Policy Liabilities
2021
$’000

Valuation of net policy liabilities at end of period

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Previous
Previous
Current
Year’s Basis
Year’s Basis
Year’s Basis
(5)
(5)
Insurance Contracts - Best estimate liability (1)
- Value of future policy benefits (2)
- Value of future expenses
- Value of future premiums
Total Best Estimate liability for Insurance Contracts

9,325,939
9,378,221
9,272,404
6,376,063
6,316,577
3,156,714
(14,984,207) (15,013,575) (11,555,949)
717,795
681,223
873,169

Insurance Contracts - Value of future profits (1)
- Value of future policyholder bonuses (3)
- Value of future Shareholder profit margins
Total Value of future profits

20,738
1,103,577
1,124,315

29,293
1,125,753
1,155,046

17,744
1,087,922
1,105,666

8,188
8,188

8,188
8,188

6,657
6,657

Net Policy Liabilities for Insurance Contracts

1,850,298

1,844,457

1,985,492

Investment Linked Contracts
- Value of investment contract liability
Net Policy Liabilities for Investment Linked Contracts

1,936,791
1,936,791

1,936,790
1,936,790

1,959,935
1,959,935

580,585
580,585

580,332
580,332

632,497
632,497

4,367,674

4,361,579

4,577,924

Total value of declared bonuses (4)

Other Investment Contracts
- Value of investment contract liability
Net Policy Liabilities for Other Investment Contracts
Net policy liabilities

Explanatory Notes:
1. All business regardless of method of valuation.
2. Future policy benefits include bonuses credited to policyholders in prior periods but exclude current year bonuses
[as shown in (4)] and future bonuses [as shown in (3)].
3. Future bonuses exclude current year bonuses.
4. Current year declared bonus valued in accordance with APRA Prudential Standards.
5. Using the actuarial methods and assumptions relevant at the previous reporting date, but on current in force
business.
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25. Net assets attributable to unitholders and policyholders
Value of holding
Total holdings in unit trusts

2021
$'000

2020*
$'000
*Restated

Net assets attributable to unitholders - ZAL
Zurich investments Australian cash pool
Zurich investments diversified Australian share pool
Zurich investments diversified fixed interest pool
Zurich investments emerging markets equity scheme
Zurich investments global thematic focus scheme
Presima Global Property Securities Concentrated Fund
Robeco Multi Factor Absolute Return Fund

5,078
21,776
8,632
2,763
57
3,569
1,371

698
22,334
10,490
3,134
4,810
1,533

Total net assets attributable to unitholders

43,246

42,999

Net assets attributable to policyholders - OPL1
ANZ OA OnePath Australian Growth Trust
ANZ OA OnePath Australian Share Trust
Balanced Trust
OnePath Diversified Fixed Interest Trust
Sustainable Investments Australian Shares
OnePath Wholesale Capital Stable Trust

16,647
13,520
15,487
3,449
1,061
26,689

16,237
11,507
15,834
4,490
754
34,224

Total net assets attributable to policyholders

76,853

83,046

120,099

126,045

Total net assets attributable to unitholders and
policyholders
*See Note 36 for further details of restatements.
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External unitholders'
Interest holding
2021
2020
%
%

4.9
9.9
9.0
12.7
0.2
21.0
8.2

1.1
10.2
9.4
13.5
0.0
24.6
8.6

19.0
16.4
23.5
34.4
38.7
9.0

17.8
14.7
21.3
32.7
34.8
9.1
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26. Contributed equity
2021
No. of shares
(000's)

2020
No. of shares
(000's)

2021

2020

$'000

$'000

1,492,933

1,423,933

3,064,373

2,926,373

No. of shares
(000's)
1,423,933
69,000
1,492,933

$'000
2,926,373
138,000
3,064,373

(a) Share capital
Shares issued
(b) Movements in ordinary share capital
Details
Opening balance
Movement
Balance

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Consolidated entity in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.
Ordinary shares have no par value and the Consolidated entity does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.
The Consolidated entity manages its capital so that the parent entity and controlled entities will be able to continue as a going
concern including compliance with capital requirements imposed by relevant legislation and the industry regulators, APRA
and Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC). The Consolidated entity aims to maintain capital beyond
minimum requirements as described below.
The capital structure of the Consolidated entity consists of issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The board's risk
appetite statement sets out the level of capital to be targeted by the Consolidated entity.
Life Insurance operations
ZAL and OPL are required by the Life Insurance Act 1995 to meet its regulatory capital requirement on a continuous basis
and this drives the need for a buffer of additional capital known as “Target Surplus”. The Target Surplus is the target amount
of assets to be held within ZAL and OPL’s shareholder and statutory funds in excess of the prudential capital requirement
such that the Company can continue to meet the prudential capital requirement over the next 12 months at a confidence level
of 97.5% for ZAL and 98.7% for OPL.
General Insurance operations
ZAIL and OPGI are insurance businesses registered and regulated by APRA and is subject to its prudential standards. ZAIL
and OPGI use the standardised framework to calculate the regulatory capital requirements to meet policyholder obligations. It
is ZAIL and OPGI’s polices to maintain an adequate capital position.
ZAIL sets its long-term target capital ranges to a total capital position equivalent to 1.45-1.65 times the PCA, compared to a
proposed regulatory requirement of 1.0 times. The capital adequacy multiple for ZAIL for 2021 is 1.58 (2020: 1.54).
OPGI sets its long-term capital range to a surplus capital position of 0.70x-1.45x times the Target Surplus amount. The
Target Surplus amount is determined as the capital required in excess of the prudential capital requirement to meet losses
from identified risks at the required level of sufficiency defined in the Board risk appetite statement. The capital adequacy
multiple for OPGI for 2021 is 7.85 (2020: 5.38).
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27. Statement of cash flows reconciliation
(a) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash outflows from operating activities
2021
$'000
162,066
(42)

2020
$'000
*Restated
82,538
(70)

19,892
(37)
304
(18,372)
15,070
(12,073)
40,859
(287)
2
-

34,237
(26)
(257)
36,916
4,478
(610)
15,488
(1,047)
3
(69,509)

(Increase) / decrease in operating assets:
Premium outstanding
Accrued interest, dividends & rents
Deferred acquisition costs
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Other receivables
Deferred tax assets
Amortisation of present value of future profits
Other assets

(82)
3,298
(26,402)
285,803
(66,066)
58,271
4,597
(1,367)

11,074
(1,818)
72,820
(95,473)
136,165
(17,306)
4,597
304

Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Provisions for deferred tax
Unearned premiums
Unexpired risk liability
Claims outstanding and other payables
Other provisions & creditors
Vested/unvested policyholder benefits
Net policy liabilities

26,878
64,135
(12,604)
(177,879)
(63,368)
(113)
(211,789)

(28,271)
(166,460)
11,944
479,998
(282,946)
(5,571)
(100,456)

90,694

120,742

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax
Bonus paid
Depreciation & amortisation and other non cash transactions from property,
plant & equipment and intangibles
Repayment/(payment) of policy loans
Provisions on impairment - receivables
Profit on sale of investments
Net purchase of investments
Amortisation of premiums/discounts
Net unrealised losses/(gains)
Net exchange difference
Deferred origination costs/Deferred origination fee
Purchase price adjustment

Net cash inflows from operating activities
*Restatement in 2020 of reduction of $129,401k in Other provisions & creditors.
(b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the consolidated cash flow statement

Cash at bank and on hand1
Term deposit and cash equivalents
1

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

833,951
37,206
871,157

809,790
160,080
969,870

The cash and cash equivalents were invested at floating interest rates between 0.00% and 0.45% (2020: 0.00% and
1.10%)
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28. Remuneration of auditors
2021
$

2020
$

1,977,995
1,977,995

2,067,839
2,067,839

Other regulatory and assurance services
Advisory and other services
Taxation services
Total other services

761,192
24,900
13,990
800,082

603,852
9,000
612,852

Audit of superannuation fund and unit trusts

393,500

302,228

Remuneration for Ernst & Young audit or review of the financial reports of the
Consolidated entity*
Statutory audit fees

Remuneration for other services:

* Ernst & Young Australia (EY) replaced PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia (PwC) as the Auditor of the Company
on 27 July 2021. The 2021 fees were paid to EY and the 2020 comparatives were paid to PwC.
29. Commitments for expenditure
(a) Capital commitments

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Capital commitments for which no provision has been made in the financial
statements:
Capital expenditure on building contracts
(Not later than one year)

1,389

14,600

(b) Lease commitments
The Consolidated entity leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within one to ten years.
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are
renegotiated. See Note 17 for further information.
As at 31 December 2021, there was nil non-cancellable lease expenditure contracted for at balance date but not
provided for (2020: nil).
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30. Contingent liabilities and assets
(a) Contingent liabilities
The Consolidated entity had the unsecured contingent liabilities totalling $17,859,000 (2020: $20,402,000) for which no
provision has been made in the financial statements, comprised of loan guarantees, performance guarantees, letters of credit,
warranties and indemnities, and bank guarantees.
During October 2021 the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) requested selected general insurers to
undertake a review of their pricing practices, systems and controls to confirm whether all discounts or price rewards
promised on all retail general insurance products over the last five years have been fully delivered to customers. Whilst ZAIL
was not selected, a comprehensive review for ZAIL is to be undertaken. The full extent of exposures to and impacts on ZAIL
are at this stage uncertain. ZAIL is closely monitoring this matter.
(b) Contingent assets
The Company has nil contingent assets for which no receivable has been booked in the financial statements.

31. Related parties
(a) Directors
The names of persons who were Directors of the Company at any time during the financial year are as follows:
Paul John Bedbrook
Nicolette Liesbeth Rubinsztein
John Inniss Howell
John Francis Mulcahy
Timothy Paul Plant
Justin Sean Delaney
Matthew Reilly
(b) Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 is set out
below. The key management personnel are all the directors of the Group and their compensation is paid by ZFSA. The
amount disclosed below reflects the total compensation paid / attributable to the key management personnel in their
duties as employees of ZFSA and or directors of various entities. The executive director’s compensation is not able to be
allocated to the individual entities whose affairs they manage or control.
Notes

Short-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments / benefits

(i)

*Comparative information restated to align with current year calculation.
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2021
$

2020
$

3,422,343
227,984
1,526,347
5,176,674

4,024,201
1,021,189*
5,045,390
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31. Related parties (continued)
(b) Key management personnel compensation (continued)
(i) Share based payments / benefits
The global long-term performance share plan is an executive incentive plans administered globally by a central
shareholding vehicle. ZFSA purchases the right to shares from this holding vehicle for Australian resident executives
who participate in the plans. When shares vest with the participants, the central share vehicle transfers those shares
directly to the participants. ZFSA does not bear any exchange or price risk in relation to payments for these rights to
shares.
The payment for global incentive plans shown later in this note represents the cost to the parent company and
consolidating entity for purchasing these rights to shares.
(c) Aggregate amounts receivable from related entities at balance date

Current
Ultimate controlling entity
Other related entities

2021
$

2020
$

795,048
16,377,771
17,172,819

2,035,788
1,038,667
3,074,455

2,032,443
95,840,307
97,872,750

5,259,067
115,867,788
121,126,855

(d) Aggregate amounts payable to related entities at balance date
Current
Ultimate controlling entities
Other related entities

93

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
31. Related parties (continued)
(e) Aggregate amounts recognised in respect of the following types of transactions and each class of related
involved were:

Reinsurance claims received
Other related entities
Reinsurance claims paid
Other related entities
Reinsurance commission received
Other related entities
Reinsurance premium expenses
Other related entities
Reinsurance premium receipts
Other related entities
Reinsurance receivable on incurred claims
Other related entities
Deferred outwards reinsurance expenses
Other related entities
Investment expenses
Other related entities
Unrealised gain on shares
Other related entities
Receipt of investment income
Ultimate controlling entity
Other related entities

94

2021
$

2020
$

400,815,591

554,765,085

1,163,122

3,513,527

25,700,981

33,400,070

655,160,943

647,158,691

82,500

184,723

714,134,222

967,834,803

71,595,258

63,285,551

438,772

509,752

-

1,577,148

156,378
(28,145)

100,899
(288,366)
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31. Related parties (continued)
(e) Aggregate amounts recognised in respect of the following types of transactions and each class of related
involved were (continued):
2021
2020
$
$
Payment of management fees
Other related entities

889,927

3,398,647

-

15,000

15,083,894
12,501,283

17,546,813
16,967,702

Expenses for global incentive plans
Ultimate controlling entity

4,327,810

4,394,496

Payments for global incentive plans
Ultimate controlling entity

6,946,597

3,464,494

150,000,000

-

Receipt of other income
Other related entities
Payment of other expenses
Ultimate controlling entity
Other related entities

Loan advanced to
Ultimate controlling entity

The above transactions were made on commercial terms and conditions at markets rates. Interests held in controlled
entities are included in Note 32.
(f) Related parties of the Consolidated entity fall into the following categories:
(i) Controlling entities
The ultimate and immediate controlling entity is Zurich Insurance Group Ltd (incorporated in Switzerland). This
entity provides the Company with general management services. The amount accrued at balance date for these
services was $2,032,443 (2020: $5,259,067).
(ii) Other related entities
Included in the reinsurance and other recoveries amounts in Note 13 is $865,620,404 (2020: $967,834,803)
owing by related entities.
Included in Deferred outwards reinsurance expense is $71,595,258 (2020: $63,285,551) in respect of deferred
outwards reinsurance expense by related entities. The reinsurance arrangements for outward treaties ceded to
related overseas reinsurers are in accordance with APRA Prudential Standard GPS 230 - Reinsurance
Management.
(g) Subordinated loan facility
ZAL provided a subordinated loan facility to its controlled entity, Zurich Investment Management Limited (ZIM).
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32. Investments in controlled entities

Controlled Entities

Zurich Australia Insurance Limited
Zurich Australia Limited
ZAL and its controlled entities
Zurich Investment Management Limited
ZAL controlled unit trusts
Zurich Investments Australian Cash Pool
Zurich Investments Diversified Australian Share
Pool
Zurich Investments International Fixed Interest
Pool
Zurich Investments Australian Value Share Pool
Zurich Investments Emerging Global Equity
Scheme
Zurich Investments Global Thematic Focus
Scheme
Presima Global Property Securities Concentrated
Fund
Robeco Multi Factor Absolute Return Fund
Entities controlled jointly by ZAIL and ZAL
Zurich Australian Insurance Properties Pty
Limited (ZAIL owns 60% and ZAL owns 40%)

Class of
Principal activities
shares

Equity holding
2021
%

2020
%

100.0
100.0

100.0 Ordinary General Insurance
100.0 Ordinary Life Insurance

100.0

100.0 Ordinary Investment management

86.6

83.7

Investment fund

90.1

89.8

Investment fund

91.0

90.6

Investment fund

100.0

100.0

Investment fund

87.3

86.5

Investment fund

100.0

100.0

Investment fund

79.0

75.4

Investment fund

91.8

91.4

Investment fund

100.0

100.0 Ordinary Property management

OnePath Life Australia Holdings Pty Limited (OPLAH) and its controlled entity
OnePath Life Limited
100.0
100.0 Ordinary
OPL controlled unit trusts
Balanced Trust
76.5
78.7
ANZ OA OnePath Australian Share Trust
83.6
85.3
OnePath Diversified Fixed Interest Trust
65.6
67.3
OnePath Sustainable Investments - Australian
61.3
65.2
Share Trust
OnePath Wholesale Capital Stable Trust
91.0
90.9
ANZ OA OnePath Managed Growth Trust
81.0
82.2
OnePath Capital Guaranteed Trust
100.0
100.0
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Life Insurance
Investment fund
Investment fund
Investment fund
Investment fund
Investment fund
Investment fund
Investment fund
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32. Investments in controlled entities (continued)

Controlled Entities

Other entities directly held by the Company
OnePath General Insurance Pty Limited
Zurich Services (Australia) Pty Limited
Associated Marine Insurers Agents Pty Limited
ZCM Asia Holdings Pty Limited

Equity holding
2021
%

2020
%

100.0
100.0
-

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

Class of
Principal activities
shares

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

General Insurance
Payroll services
De-registered
De-registered

The Directors are satisfied that the carrying value of investments in controlled entities is not in excess of
recoverable amount. Minority interests in controlled unit trusts are considered to be liabilities and are shown in
Note 25.
All companies in the Consolidated entity are incorporated in Australia. The country of incorporation or
registration is also their principal place of business.

33. Events occurring after reporting date
1) On 21 February 2022, the Full Court of the Federal Court of Australia passed judgement on the appeals in the COVID-19
second business interruption test case. The judgment substantially upheld the earlier Federal Court decision delivered in
October 2021. The judgement of the Court concluded that for nine of the ten proceedings in the second test case, business
interruption claims are not covered. Given this judgement, the Consolidated entity has reassessed its outstanding claims
liability and associated reinsurance and other recoveries. This reassessment is reflected within the results of the
Consolidated entity for the year ended 31 December 2021.
2) From 21 February 2022, heavy rain and flash flooding has impacted the Queensland and NSW coastline, including
Southeast Queensland, northern regions of NSW, and most recently the greater Sydney region. At the time of preparing
the Annual Report, this East Coast Flood catastrophe event has subsided, however the claims impact of this event is still
developing. A current early estimate of the Consolidated entity’s gross claims is approximately $105m. After reinsurance,
net claims cost to the Consolidated entity from this series of weather events is expected to range between $10m to $20m.
3) On 22 February 2022, the Company entered into an Asset Sale Agreement with ANZ Bank Group Limited (ANZ) to
acquire the servicing arrangements of ANZ’s insurance advice customers, with an expected completion date in July
2022. This provides the Company with an opportunity to establish an internal advice capability to offer advice to the nonadvised customers in our existing Zurich Australia Life and OnePath portfolios.
The directors have not become aware of any other matters or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in the financial
statements that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.

97

ZURICH FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
34. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund
(a) Statutory fund information – ZAL
The Company operates predominantly in the life insurance industry. The principal activities of the Company are the
underwriting of various classes of ordinary and superannuation life insurance and the investment of related funds. The
Company operates in one geographical area, being Australia.
In accordance with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995, the Company has established separate statutory funds to
account for the different type of Life Insurance business written by the Company. Details are as follows:
Type of business

Major products

No.2 Statutory Fund
Non investment linked ordinary and
superannuation business

Term Insurance, Income Protection Insurance, Total and
Permanent Disablement Insurance, Trauma Insurance,
Investment Account, Quality Life, Group Life, Group Salary
Continuance, Participating and Non-Participating Whole of
Life and Endowment Insurance, Term Certain and Lifetime
Annuities

No.3 Statutory Fund
Investment linked ordinary and superannuation
business

Investment Linked Business Regular and Single Premiums,
Allocated Pensions
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34. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund
(b) Statutory fund information – OPL
OPL operates predominantly in the life insurance industry. The principal activities of the Company are the underwriting of
various classes of ordinary and superannuation Life Insurance and the investment of related funds. OPL operates in one
geographical area, being Australia.
In accordance with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995, OPL has established separate statutory funds to account
for the different type of Life Insurance business written by OPL. Details are as follows:

Type of business

Major products

No.1 Statutory Fund
Non investment linked ordinary business

Conventional, Group Investment, Group Life, Group Salary
Continuance, Consumer Credit Life Insurance, Insurance
Bonds, Regular Premium Investment, Yearly Renewable
Disability, Yearly Renewable Term

No.2 Statutory Fund
Investment linked ordinary business

Group Investment, Insurance Bonds, Regular Premium
Investment

No.3 Statutory Fund
Non Investment superannuation business

Conventional, Allocated Pensions, Group Investment,
Group Life, Group Salary Continuance, Yearly Renewable
Term, Yearly Renewable Disability, Immediate Annuities,
Master Trust and Corporate Superannuation, Regular
Premium Investment, Rollover Bonds, Superannuation
Bonds

No.4 Statutory Fund
Investment linked superannuation business

Allocated Pensions, Group Investment, Master Trust and
Corporate Superannuation, Regular Premium Investment,
Rollover Bonds, Superannuation Bonds

No.5 Statutory Fund
Non investment linked

Annuity with Longevity Risk
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35. Parent entity financial information
(a) Summary of financial statements
The individual financial statements for the Parent Entity show the following aggregate amounts:
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

232,914
3,883,854
4,116,768

130,944
3,879,939
4,010,883

197,211
108,724
305,935

228,981
129,925
358,906

Net assets

3,810,833

3,651,977

Equity
Contributed equity
Retained profits

3,064,373
746,460

2,926,373
725,604

Total equity

3,810,833

3,651,977

Balance sheet
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Statement of comprehensive income
Profit before income tax
Income tax credit
Profit (loss) for the year

(9,343)
30,199
20,856

(73,358)
21,349
(52,009)

Total comprehensive income

20,856

(52,009)
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36. Accounting for prior-period errors
During the course of preparing the current year financial statements, two restatements were made in the comparatives. The
nature of these restatements and the financial statement line items corrected are set out below:



The non-controlling interest in majority owning controlled external trusts of ZAL were previously not reflected in
investments assets and the related net assets attributable to policyholders. The balance sheet has been grossed up to
reflect the non-controlling interest.
Reinsurance commission expense has been netted against premium income. The amounts have been grossed up in the
income statement.

As a result of the changes, prior year financial statements are required to be restated. There was nil impact on prior period net
profit.
The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each individual line item. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Balance sheet (extract)
Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Total
Liabilities
Net assets attributable to
unitholders and policyholders
Total

Statement of comprehensive
income (extract)
Revenue from operations
Life Insurance expenses

31 Dec 2020

Impact of changes in:

31 Dec 2020

As originally presented

Restated

$’000

Unit trusts minority
interest gross-up
$’000

7,901,916

6,343

7,908,259

7,901,916

6,343

7,908,259

119,702

6,343

126,045

119,702

6,343

126,045

31 Dec 2020

Impact of changes in:

31 Dec 2020

As originally presented

Restated

$’000

Disclosure of
reinsurance
commissions
$’000

4,976,788

213,233

5,190,021

(3,045,562)

(213,233)

(3,258,795)
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Directors’ declaration
In the directors’ opinion:
(a)

(b)

The financial statements and notes set out on pages 7 to 101 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
(i)

Complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements; and

(ii)

Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its performance,
as represented by the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows, for the financial year ended
on that date; and

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

__________________________________
P J Bedbrook
Director

___________________________________
N L Rubinsztein
Director

Sydney
23 March 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the members Zurich Financial Services
Australia Limited
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited (the Company), and
its subsidiaries (collectively ‘the Group’), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December 2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
a.

Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b.

Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report
accompanying the financial report.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
►

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

►

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

►

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

►

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

►

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

►

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Page 3

responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young

David Jewell
Ernst & Young
Partner
Sydney
23 March 2022
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